
AGENDA

COUNCIL MEETING
Date: Wednesday, 16 March 2016
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

RECORDING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be recorded.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.  
Data collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data 
retention policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being 
recorded and to the possible use of those sound records for training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

Quorum = 16 

Pages
1. Prayers

2. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. 

3. Apologies for Absence

4. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 February 2016 (Minute 
Nos.499 - 514) as a correct record, subject to a) a correction to Minute 
No. 501 to change ‘Tony Nash’ to ‘Fred Nash’ and b) a correction to 
Minute No. 510 to change reference to the ‘Cabinet Member for Finance’ 
to the ‘Cabinet Member for Performance.’

5. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

Public Document Pack



other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of 
Corporate Services as Monitoring Officer, the Head of Legal or from other 
Solicitors in Legal Services as early as possible, and in advance of the 
Meeting.

6. Mayor's Announcements

7. Questions submitted by the Public

To consider any questions submitted by the public.  (The deadline for questions 
is 4.30 pm the Friday before the meeting – please contact Democratic Services 
by e-mailing democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call 01795 417330).

8. Questions submitted by Members

To consider any questions submitted by Members.  (The deadline for questions 
is 4.30 pm the Wednesday before the meeting – please contact Democratic 
Services by e-mailing democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call 01795 417330).

1 - 2

9. Leader's Statement - added on 14 March 2016

Members may ask questions on the Leader’s Statement – added on 14 
March 2016.

10. Strategic Business Planning 2016-17 3 - 14

11. LEF and Rural Forum Review 15 - 32

12. Motion referred from Council on 27 January 2016 33 - 42

13. Constitution Review 43 - 80

14. Recommendations for Approval 81 - 82

democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


Council is asked to note the recommendations from the following 
meetings:

General Purposes Committee (2 March 2016), Minute Nos.538 - 543 and 
Cabinet Meeting (2 March 2016) Minute Nos 544 – 560.

15. URGENT ITEM - Budget Framework Variation 83 - 86

Issued on Monday, 7 March 2016

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in alternative formats. 
For further information about this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of Council, please visit www.swale.gov.uk 

Corporate Services Director, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

http://www.swale.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Agenda Item No. 8

Council 16 March 2016 - Questions submitted by Members

Question 
No.

Question 
from:

Question: Question to: Service area:

1. Cllr Alan 
Horton

Clean for The Queen, was a highly publicised and successful 
national campaign over the weekend of 4th to 6th March to clear 
litter from the verges, paths and roadways of Britain in time for 
Her Majesty The Queen’s official 90th birthday in June this year.
The Cabinet Member for The Environment and Rural Affairs 
kindly agreed to support volunteers across Swale, in their efforts 
to clean our towns and villages by committing Swale Borough 
Council to collect and dispose of the rubbish picked up over that 
weekend.
Does the Cabinet Member agree with me that it was a very 
positive and productive weekend that involved people from right 
across the Borough taking part in a highly successful, 
environmentally focused, community project, and furthermore 
that Swale Borough Council played a very significant role in its 
success?

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Environment 
and Rural 
Affairs

Emma Wiggins – 
Head of Economy 
and Community 
Services

Response:  Clean for the Queen 2016 has been an extremely successful event and is continuing with events running up to June.  
There have been 28 organised events throughout the Borough led by the Contracts & Procurement team’s Environmental Projects 
Officer, Vikki Sedgwick.
Residents, schools, Gordon Henderson MP’s Litter Angels, Helen Whateley MP, community groups, Councillors and Parish 
Councillors, supported by the Contract Monitoring Team and Environmental Wardens, have to date collected 288 sacks of rubbish, 
along with tyres, a freezer, traffic cones, and some small electrical items.
The Contract & Procurement Team’s Environmental Projects Officer’s aspiration to embrace the Borough has proven very 
successful and popular, so much so that an annual ‘Clean for Swale’ initiative is being considered on the back of a very successful 
promotion of the ‘Clean for the Queen’ campaign.

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Leader’s Statement  to Full Council – Wednesday 16 March 2016

Over the past decade Swale has led the way, delivering more new commercial 
development than other districts in Kent.  This has bought benefits for local residents, 
creating new opportunities for employment, and also for this Council as we have 
needed to establish new income streams, not least through retained business rates.  
Our success in securing growth has helped protect Council services, and we are 
determined that this continues to be the case.

Infrastructure is, of course, a vital component in supporting our ambition.  Meetings 
with Highways England have shown good progress against the redesign of Junction 
5 of the M2, to address the safety and capacity issues, which local residents and 
businesses must contend with daily.  It is anticipated that public consultation will be 
carried out later this year, possibly late summer.  We are also currently in the throes 
of the consultation on the preferred option for the proposed Lower Thames Crossing, 
linking Thurrock to Gravesham via a bored tunnel.  Given the strategic importance of 
this, we are actively encouraging local businesses to make their voices heard prior to 
24 March, when the consultation closes.

Whilst broadly supporting this route, the Council will lobby for proper consideration of 
the wider implications for the road network across Kent.  In Swale our concerns are 
focused on the A249 and Junction 5 of the M2, and Junction 7 at Brenley Corner.  
Whilst both junctions are over-capacity, only Junction 5 is within the current build 
programme for Highways England.  Yet both face the prospect of additional pressure 
from through-traffic generated by the new crossing and from growth, not just in Swale 
but also from other parts of Kent.  This is something that must be factored into the 
financial planning for this multi- billion pound investment.

I am encouraged that businesses continue to show an appetite to invest in the area, 
the result of many years of business engagement and promotion of Swale.  Over the 
coming months the strong market interest that has been shown in Dane Park in 
Faversham can now be secured, with the S.106 for the development having been 
agreed.  On our largest business park, and indeed one of the largest in Kent, 
Eurolink, we are seeing positive movement, driven by growing local companies 
looking to consolidate and expand their operations locally – and I was very pleased 
that Trenport Investments were able to confirm its commitment to the area at the end 
of last year by announcing that it will forward-fund infrastructure work on Eurolink, an 
investment worth around £1 million.

Permission is also about to be issued for a new business park, on land south of 
Kemsley Mill.  To be known as Fulcrum Business Park, this will provide up to 
8,000m2 of smaller, high quality business units, in contrast to the larger sites at 
Eurolink and at Kemsley Fields.  The development also brings with it benefits for the 
local community, offering the opportunity  to extend and enhance Milton Creek 
Country Park.

On Sheppey, progress continues to be made at Queenborough and Rushenden.  
2016 will see the development of the new ALDI Regional Distribution Centre, creating 
another 400 jobs.  We also see continued development at Neatscourt, which to date 
has created at least 450 new jobs, a number set to grow as a new pub and retail 
outlets open over the coming months.

Page 3

Agenda Item 9



On the housing front, we continue to work closely with the Homes and Communities 
Agency, and I am pleased to say they are currently finalising the procurement of their 
preferred developer for the first phase of housing development at Q & R.

The Council is also working with the Dockyard Preservation Trust, supporting their 
efforts to bring the Dockyard Church back into use, potentially as a hub for small 
businesses.  While this is a challenging project, the persistence and ambition of the 
Trust has the potential to bring something new and exciting to the Island, which 
would demonstrate how some of Swale’s significant heritage assets can be brought 
back to life.

I would like to touch on the retirement of James Speck, as Director of Kent Science 
Park, at the end of February.  Those who were involved prior to James joining KSP at 
the start of the recession at 2007 will recall how toxic the relationship between KSP 
and sections of the local community could be.  James must take much of the credit 
for the massive improvement in this relationship.  Under his leadership KSP has 
secured substantial inward investment (including an estimated £85m foreign direct 
investment), and nurtured start-up and early stage hi-tech companies.  Importantly, 
employment has grown from c900 to 1,650 employees at the site during this time, 
and is likely to exceed forecast targets over the next year.  Given the recent £95m 
sale of KSP, along with four other sites, we are arranging to meet the new owners 
next month to discuss how we build upon this legacy and the Science Park’s 
reputation as a centre for innovation led growth.

To help local young people take advantage of some of the very exciting opportunities 
that Kent Science Park and other local employers are offering, the Council remains 
committed to bringing new learning provision to Swale to support the employability of 
our young people.  To this end we have recently had initial very encouraging 
dialogue on the potential for a new UTC in the Borough, and I anticipate to be able to 
report positive news  on this soon as we move these discussions forward.

To touch on related other matters, Members may be recall that much of the Borough 
falls within the new East Kent or Mid-Kent LEADER programme areas.  LEADER is 
able to offer grants to support projects which encourage more economic activity and 
employment in our rural areas and market towns, typically of up to £50,000.  After 
many months of negotiation between KCC and DeFRA, the programme is now live 
and I would encourage all Members to let our Regeneration Team know about any 
projects they believe might have the potential for support.  Pre-application advice is 
available, and the programme will run until 2019.

Finally, at the Planning Committee on 10 March the decision on the new community 
centre at Great Easthall was delegated to officers to approve, subject to the 
satisfactory conclusion of a small number of outstanding issues.  We still expect that, 
subject to the above, construction will begin in early July.  The Centre will provide an 
excellent focal point for this new community, and local residents are working together 
to form a Trust to manage the Centre once it is complete.  We look forward to the 
Centre being opened to the community in Spring 2017.

Cllr Andrew Bowles
Council Leader

Page 4



Council Meeting
Meeting Date 16 March 2016

Report Title Strategic Business Planning 2016/17: Corporate Plan 
Action Plan and Corporate Performance Targets

Cabinet Member Cllr Bowles – Leader of the Council

SMT Lead Abdool Kara – Chief Executive

Head of Service David Clifford – Policy and Performance Manager

Lead Officer David Clifford – Policy and Performance Manager

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations Council is recommended to:
1. Adopt the Corporate Plan action plan for 2016/17 

(§3.2 and Appendix I).
2. Adopt the corporate performance indicator set for 

2016/17 and associated ‘hard’ targets for 2016/17 
and ‘soft’ targets for the following two years (§3.8 
and Appendix II).

3. Give delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Performance, to amend performance indicators and 
targets during the course of the year should this 
become necessary (§3.9).

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 This report reminds members of the purpose of the high-level action plan which 
supports the delivery of the four-year Corporate Plan, and asks members to adopt 
the 2016/17 version of the plan. The plan has been the subject of extensive 
internal consultation, which is summarised in Section 5 of the report. The report 
also asks members to adopt ‘hard’ targets for the corporate performance 
indicators for 2016/17, together with ‘soft’ or indicative targets for future years.

2 Background

2.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan, Making Swale a Better Place, was adopted by 
Council in February 2015. The Plan sets out the Council’s strategic direction for 
the period to 2018, focusing on areas of change and development for the 
organisation. It establishes three ‘priority themes’ as overarching aspirations, 

Page 5

Agenda Item 10



under each of which sit five more specific medium-term strategic objectives, as 
outlined below.

2.2 Priority theme 1: A borough to be proud of
This priority theme sets out the Council’s aspirations for the Borough as a 
physical place. It includes the following medium-term strategic objectives:
1. Deliver major regeneration projects;
2. Enhance the borough’s economic and tourism offer;
3. Keep Swale clean and tidy;
4. Protect and improve the natural and built environments; and
5. Lobby for better roads and transport.

2.3 Priority theme 2: A community to be proud of 
This priority theme sets out the Council’s aspirations for the people and 
communities of Swale. It includes the following medium-term strategic objectives:
1. Foster economic growth and prosperity for all;
2. Encourage active communities and support the voluntary sector;
3. Reduce crime and disorder;
4. Use our influence to ensure local skills are matched to local jobs; and
5. Work collaboratively to improve health and mental health.

2.4 Priority theme 3: A council to be proud of
This priority theme sets out the Council’s aspirations for developing its own 
organisational capacity and culture. It includes the following medium-term 
strategic objectives:
1. Improve residents’ perceptions and customers’ experiences;
2. Ensure that Swale’s internal governance is second to none;
3. Encourage innovation at every level;
4. Strengthen our financial and political resilience; and
5. Enhance our capacity for achieving outcomes collaboratively.

2.5 In order to ensure that the objectives set out in the Plan are delivered, a ‘high-
level action plan’ was also adopted by Council. This action plan functions as a 
mechanism for linking the 15 medium-term objectives to departments’ annual 
service plans, with the clear understanding that every action on the high-level 
plan must be reflected each year in at least one service plan.

2.6 Some of the actions on the action plan are at a greater level of detail than others, 
and there is also a range of likely durations, with some actions expected to be 
achieved within a single year and others expected to range over a longer term. In 

Page 6



view of this, the high-level action plan is intended to be updated on an annual 
basis to coincide with the commencement of departmental service planning.

3 Proposals

Corporate Plan action plan

3.1 Cabinet members and senior officers have reviewed the action plan and deleted 
actions which are complete and, in one or two cases, added actions the need for 
which has arisen since last year. In some cases the wording of actions has also 
been refined to ensure the action remains properly focused for 2016/17. Policy 
Development and Review Committee has also reviewed the plan and made some 
recommendations on it; a complete list of these is available for information in 
Section 5. 

3.2 A final version of the high-level action plan for 2016/17 is attached at Appendix I. 
Council is now recommended to adopt this version of the plan.

Target-setting for corporate performance indicators

3.3 The ability to manage performance at both strategic and operational levels is 
fundamental to any effective and successful organisation, whether in the public or 
private sector. As many of Swale’s more transactional services are dependent on 
quantitative measures for ongoing assessment of their efficiency and 
effectiveness, it is to be expected that a limited number of the most representative 
of these will be monitored by the strategic leadership as ‘corporate’ indicators.

3.4 In 2013 a new set of corporate performance indicators and targets was adopted 
by Council for a period of three years. The set is fundamental to the 
organisation’s performance management mechanisms, including both the 
monthly SMT performance report and the quarterly balanced scorecards. 

3.5 In developing the new indicator set, it was acknowledged that management 
through quantitative target-setting is more appropriate for some service areas 
than for others. However, the set was developed with a view to ensuring that, 
taken as a whole, it provided a broadly balanced and holistic overview of the 
entire organisation’s performance to the extent that this is amenable to 
quantitative analysis. 

3.6 Ongoing incremental refinement over the last three years has ensured that the 
corporate indicator set remains fit for purpose, but there is now a need to set 
targets for these indicators for 2016/17 and beyond. 

3.7 The targets attached at Appendix II have been developed by heads of service in 
consultation with relevant Cabinet members, with the aim of setting performance 
expectations which are genuinely stretching but realistically achievable. This 
process has taken into account both Swale’s own historic performance data and 

Page 7



the performance of other authorities on the same measures where this data 
exists. The quartile position Swale would achieve within national datasets when 
targets are achieved is indicated in Appendix II where this information is 
available. 

3.8 Council is now recommended to adopt the corporate performance indicator set 
for 2016/17 and associated ‘hard’ targets for 2016/17 and ‘soft’ targets for the 
following two years, all as set out in Appendix II. 

3.9 Due to unforeseeable changes in either the external or internal environment, on 
occasion it may be necessary to amend indicators and targets during the course 
of the year. Council is therefore further recommended to give delegated authority 
to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Performance, 
to amend indicators and targets during the year should this become necessary.

4 Alternative Options

4.1 Alternative options to agreeing a Corporate Plan were considered when the Plan 
was adopted a year ago.  It would be possible to keep the Corporate Plan but 
remove the high-level action plan, but this would reduce the linkage between 
strategic and operational decision-making, thereby reducing the likelihood that the 
objectives set out in the Corporate Plan will actually be achieved. 

4.2 It would also be possible to maintain the high-level action plan as it is without 
reviewing it over the lifetime of the Corporate Plan.  However, while the broad 
strategic objectives of the Corporate Plan are not expected to change over the 
remaining three years of its life, changes to the environment within which the 
Council is seeking to achieve those objectives will result in new risks and new 
opportunities, requiring a reassessment of how the objectives can best be 
achieved.  Reviewing and updating the high-level action plan provides a sound 
basis for doing this, and the option of not reviewing the action plan is therefore 
also not recommended.

4.3 With regard to the corporate indicator set, an option would be to dispense with 
this altogether, but there are a number of major disadvantages to this, including a 
reduction in corporate self-awareness and a likely deterioration in overall service 
performance. The lack of a corporate performance regime would be a significant 
hindrance to the effective functioning of both the political and the managerial 
leadership of the organisation. It would also stop us publishing monthly 
performance reports on the website, hence reducing our public accountability. 
This option is therefore not recommended.

Page 8



5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 Cabinet members and senior officers have been consulted on an individual basis 
in preparing the updated high-level action plan at Appendix I. Following this, the 
draft plan was considered by Policy Development and Review Committee, which 
made a number of recommendations for amendments. Some of these have been 
agreed by Cabinet and incorporated into the plan at Appendix I while others have 
not. These recommendations and the Cabinet response are summarised in Table 
1 below.

Action PDRC recommendation Cabinet response
Priority theme 1: A borough to be proud of
1.1 Change the objective to read ‘Deliver 

regeneration projects’ instead of Deliver major 
regeneration projects.

Not agreed.

1.1.3 Delete this action. Not agreed.

1.2.3 Change this to read ‘support and develop the 
local tourism industry’.

Not agreed.

1.3.1 Change this to read ‘Keep the streets and open 
spaces in the Borough clean and tidy and 
discourage littering’.

Agreed and incorporated 
into the plan at Appendix I.

1.4.1 Delete this action. Not agreed.

1.4.3 Change this to read ‘Endeavour to provide and 
improve excellent stewardship of the countryside, 
coastline, parks and open spaces’.

Not agreed.

1.5.1 Delete reference to the M2 and the 2014 South-
East Local Growth Fund bid, so that it reads 
‘Lobby for infrastructure improvements in the 
Borough’.

Partially agreed. New 
wording based on PDRC 
recommendation 
incorporated into the plan 
at Appendix I.

Priority theme 2: A community to be proud of
2.1.2 Change the proposed wording to read ‘To 

improve the promotion of opportunities to bid…’
Agreed and incorporated 
into the plan at Appendix I.

2.2.5 Change this to read ‘Help residents and 
communities to adapt to a changing climate, with 
a particular emphasis on the preparedness for 
extreme adverse weather conditions especially 
risk of flooding’.

Not agreed.

Page 9



Action PDRC recommendation Cabinet response
2.3.1, 
2.3.2

Add a new action as 2.3.1 to reflect the need to 
work to reduce radicalisation and safeguard the 
population from terrorism – exact wording to be 
agreed between the Cabinet Member and 
Officers. Change existing action 2.3.1. to 2.3.2.

Not agreed.

2.4.1 Change this to read ‘ Target lobbying and 
influencing activity on the need to bring the 
Borough’s skill profile better than the national and 
regional averages’.

Not agreed.

2.4.3 Remove the words ‘especially Sittingbourne’ so it 
reads ‘Press the case for equitable access to 
further education across Swale and ideally for 
better provision within the Borough’. 

Agreed and incorporated 
into the plan at Appendix I.

2.5.1 Change this to refer to ‘Boards’ instead of ‘Board’. Agreed and incorporated 
into the plan at Appendix I.

2.5.3 Delete this action. Not agreed.

2.5.5 Keep the original wording and not the proposed 
update.

Not agreed.

Priority theme 3: A council to be proud of
3.3.1 Change the wording to read ‘Ensure that staff are 

supported to experiment and innovate in finding 
new ways to achieve better outcomes and/or at 
lower cost’.

Not agreed.

Table 1: PDRC recommendations and Cabinet response

5.2 A full public consultation was undertaken on the draft Corporate Plan as it was 
being developed towards the end of 2014.  It is not proposed that further public 
consultation will now take place on the updated high-level action plan.

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan The report proposes updates to the high-level action plan which 

sits directly beneath the Corporate Plan and links it to council 
departments’ operational service plans. The report also proposes 
performance indicator targets for 2016/17 and beyond, some of 
which are used to measure progress towards achieving the 
objectives set out in the Corporate Plan.

Financial, 
Resource and 

The Corporate Plan determines the priorities upon which the 
Council will focus its efforts given the resources allocated through 
the budget, albeit that it is focused more on development activity 

Page 10



Property and innovation than on established and ongoing operational 
processes. It is generally expected that the actions in the high-level 
action plan will be delivered within resource allocations as 
established by the annual budget-setting process.

Legal and 
Statutory

The Council is under no statutory duty to prepare or adopt a 
corporate plan.  However, section 3 of the Local Government Act 
1999 (as amended) does impose a general duty, known as the 
‘Best Value Duty’, to “secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which [the Council’s] functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness”.  One of the 
purposes of the Corporate Plan is to provide clear strategic 
direction on agreed medium-term priorities in order to facilitate 
optimal and equitable resource allocation, thereby improving the 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness of Council services.

Crime and 
Disorder

The Corporate Plan includes an explicit medium-term objective to 
‘Reduce crime and disorder’ (Objective 2.3).  This is picked up in 
more detail in the action plan at Appendix I.  No further specific 
implications have been identified at this stage.

Sustainability The Corporate Plan includes an explicit medium-term objective to 
‘Protect and improve the natural and built environments’ (Objective 
1.4).  This is picked up in more detail in the action plan at Appendix 
I.  No further specific implications have been identified at this stage.

Health and 
Wellbeing

The Corporate Plan includes an explicit medium-term objective to 
‘Work collaboratively to improve health and mental health’ 
(Objective 2.5).  This is picked up in more detail in the action plan 
at Appendix I.  No further specific implications have been identified 
at this stage.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

The Corporate Plan is a key component of the Council’s efforts to 
manage risks, particularly those of a more abstract or ‘strategic’ 
nature.  No health and safety implications have been identified at 
this stage.

Equality and 
Diversity

Decision-makers are reminded of the requirement under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty (s149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due 
regard to the need to (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act, 
(ii) advance equality of opportunity between people from different 
groups, and (iii) foster good relations between people from different 
groups.  The decisions recommended through this paper could 
directly impact on end users.
The differential equality impact of the Corporate Plan on was 
analysed in some detail as it was being drafted, and at this level of 
abstraction was considered not to vary between groups of people.  
This is also the case for the high-level action plan, although 
individual actions contained within the plan may require equality 

Page 11



impact assessments of their own as they are taken forward.

7 Appendices

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:

 Appendix I: Corporate Plan high-level action plan 2016/17.

 Appendix II: Performance indicators and targets 2016/17 through 2018/19.

8 Background Papers

 Making Swale a Better Place: Swale’s Corporate Plan 2015-2018, available
here.

 Council paper recommending adoption of the Corporate Plan 2015-2018 
(includes equality impact assessment), available here.

 Council paper recommending adoption of the corporate performance 
indicator set, available here.

Page 12

http://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies-2014/Corporate-plan-2015-2018_2.pdf
http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g1290/Public%20reports%20pack%2018th-Feb-2015%2019.15%20Council.pdf
http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/Data/Annual%20Council/20130515/Agenda/Report%20for%20Item%209%20-%20C12B7E010C6D4A3F9EFD4ACAC776A8E7.pdf


Corporate Plan Action Plan 2016/17 Appendix I

Ref Action Cabinet Member

1 PRIORITY THEME 1: A BOROUGH TO BE PROUD OF Not applicable

1.1 Objective 1.1: Deliver major regeneration projects Not applicable

1.1.1 Encourage regeneration investment, job creation and urban renewal across the Borough. Cllr Cosgrove

1.1.2 Work with Spirit and other partners to deliver the regeneration of Sittingbourne Town Centre. Cllr Cosgrove

1.1.3 Ensure that sufficient short-term car-parking spaces are created in Sittingbourne Town Centre to offset spaces lost to redevelopment. Cllr Simmons

1.2 Objective 1.2: Enhance the Borough’s economic and tourism offer Not applicable

1.2.1 Promote Swale for business investment and expansion. Cllr Cosgrove

1.2.1 Continue to support the success of key employment locations including Eurolink, Port of Sheerness, Kent Science Park, Kemsley Fields and Neatscourt. Cllr Cosgrove

1.2.3 Support the local tourism industry. Cllr Cosgrove

1.2.4 Support partners in the roll-out of fibre-based broadband within the Borough. Cllr Cosgrove

1.3 Objective 1.3: Keep Swale clean and tidy Not applicable

1.3.1 Keep the streets and open spaces in the Borough clean and tidy and discourage littering. Cllr Simmons

1.3.2 Continue to develop a waste collection service which encourages greater levels of recycling and reduced levels of household waste. Cllr Simmons

1.4 Objective 1.4: Protect and improve the natural and built environments Not applicable

1.4.1 Undertake any required modifications and adopt the Local Plan. Cllr Lewin

1.4.2 Consult, finalise, adopt and implement CIL, including its governance and administrative requirements. Cllr Lewin

1.4.3 Continue to provide excellent stewardship of the countryside, coastline, parks and open spaces. Cllr Simmons

1.4.4 Continue to mitigate against the causes of climate change. Cllr Simmons

1.5 Objective 1.5: Lobby for better roads and transport Not applicable

1.5.1 Lobby for infrastructure improvements in the Borough, including the M2. Cllr Cosgrove

1.5.2 Continue to press the case for the completion of the Sittingbourne northern relief road. Cllr Cosgrove

1.5.3 Work with partners to ensure Swale has a public transport network which enhances work and leisure opportunities and is an attractive alternative to car use. Cllr Cosgrove

2 PRIORITY THEME 2: A COMMUNITY TO BE PROUD OF Not applicable

2.1 Objective 2.1: Foster economic growth and prosperity for all Not applicable

2.1.1 Continue to provide tailored packages of support to local businesses and start-ups. Cllr Cosgrove

2.1.2 Continue to improve the promotion of opportunities to bid for Council contracts among local businesses and voluntary/community organisations, use social value 

criteria when assessing tenders, and monitor contracts' delivery of social value commitments.

Cllr Whiting

2.1.3 Work with partners to support residents through welfare reform and encourage greater independence where appropriate. Cllr Wright

2.1.4 Continue to support initiatives to help troubled families across Swale. Cllr Pugh

2.2 Objective 2.2: Encourage active communities and support the voluntary sector Not applicable

2.2.1 Continue to assess options for the ownership and management of council assets with a view to maximising their value to their local community and the borough more 

generally.

Cllr Whiting

2.2.2 Continue to support voluntary service in the Borough, and undertake a review of the Council's overall strategy for supporting the local voluntary and community 

sector.

Cllr Whiting

2.2.3 Commemorate the 1914-1918 centenary. Cllr Bowles

2.2.4 Help residents and communities to adapt to a changing climate, with a particular emphasis on preparedness for unprecedented adverse weather conditions. Cllr Simmons

2.3 Objective 2.3: Reduce crime and disorder Not applicable

2.3.1 Continue to tackle crime, disorder and antisocial behaviour. Cllr Pugh

P
age 13



Corporate Plan Action Plan 2016/17 Appendix I

2.4 Objective 2.4: Use our influence to ensure local skills are matched to local jobs Not applicable

2.4.1 Target lobbying and influencing activity on the need to bring the Borough's skills profile up to the national and regional averages. Cllr Cosgrove

2.4.2 Continue to encourage the creation of opportunities for young people to enter employment and learning, particularly apprenticeships. Cllr Cosgrove

2.4.3 Press the case for equitable access to further education across Swale, and ideally for better provision within the Borough. Cllr Cosgrove

2.4.4 Work to facilitate an improvement in linkages between employers and skills providers so that training provision more accurately reflects employers' needs. Cllr Cosgrove

2.5 Objective 2.5: Work collaboratively to improve health and mental health Not applicable

2.5.1 Continue to use the local Health and Wellbeing Boards to influence the local health and public health agendas. Cllr Pugh

2.5.2 Support partners to improve health and reduce hospital admissions through effective home adaptations and by improving conditions in privately rented homes. Cllr Pugh

2.5.3 Pilot and roll out an identification and initial assessment service among frontline staff to ensure appropriate referral of apparent mental health needs. Cllr Pugh

2.5.4 Continue to enable healthier lifestyles and physical activity through the implementation of the sport and physical activity framework for Swale and the indoor sports 

strategy 2015-2025.

Cllr Pugh

2.5.5 Support lead partners wherever possible in the development of shared routes for cycling and walking. Cllr Pugh

3 PRIORITY THEME 3: A COUNCIL TO BE PROUD OF Not applicable

3.1 Objective 3.1: Improve residents’ perceptions and customers’ experiences Not applicable

3.1.1 Implement the corporate Communications Strategy. Cllr Bowles

3.1.2 Identify and address the factors with the strongest influence on residents' perceptions of the Council. Cllr Wilcox

3.1.3 Provide a choice of access to our services through a balance of cost-effective and convenient options, and pursue initiatives to improve customer service at reduced 

cost, including self service options where appropriate.

Cllr Bowles

3.2 Objective 3.2: Ensure that Swale's internal governance and decision-making are second to none Not applicable

3.2.1 Use the annual budget-setting process to produce balanced budgets and ensure maximum value for money, and closely monitor expenditure against budgets during 

the year.

Cllr Dewar-Whalley

3.2.2 Continue to undertake robust performance management of Swale's services and regular benchmarking with other top-performing councils. Cllr Wilcox

3.2.3 Implement the revised risk strategy to improve the Council's understanding of its risk appetite and provide appropriate mechanisms for managing risks at all levels. Cllr Wilcox

3.3 Objective 3.3: Encourage innovation at every level Not applicable

3.3.1 Ensure that staff are supported to experiment and innovate in finding new ways to achieve better outcomes at lower cost. Cllr Wilcox

3.3.2 Continue to be proactive in learning about 'what works', whether from our own experiences or from those of other organisations across the public, private and 

voluntary sectors.

Cllr Bowles

3.3.3 Work with MKIP partners to deliver Transformation Challenge Award-funded telephony and digitisation projects and ensure the Council and its residents are able to 

benefit from big data applications.

Cllr Bowles

3.4 Objective 3.4: Strengthen our financial and political resilience Not applicable

3.4.1 Ensure that income from government sources over which the Council has some control (e.g. New Homes Bonus and retained NNDR) is maximised. Cllr Bowles

3.4.2 Assess and pursue options for generating revenue to reduce dependence on government-controlled funding streams. Cllr Whiting

3.4.3 Work to develop a preferred outcome to secure the best arrangements for Swale's residents in the event of local government reorganisation. Cllr Bowles

3.5 Objective 3.5: Enhance our capacity for achieving outcomes collaboratively Not applicable

3.5.1 Strengthen further our ability to work in partnership with other agencies, whether at strategic, tactical or operational levels. Cllr Bowles

3.5.2 Work to improve our capacity for systematic and concerted lobbying. Cllr Bowles

P
age 14



Corporate performance indicators and targets for 2016/17 through 2018/19 Appendix II

Reference Description Unit

It's 

better

to be…

Target 

2015/16

Current 

performance

Fixed 

Target 

2016/17

Indicative 

Target 

2017/18

Indicative 

Target 

2018/19

Benchmark comparison source or 

note on Swale's past performance

BV 10 Proportion of non-domestic rates collected % High 97.5 On target 97.6 97.7 97.8
LGInform (All England District 

Councils 2014/15)

BV 78a
Speed of processing new HB/CT support 

claims
Days Low 17 On target 17 16 15

LGInform  (All England District 

Councils 2012/13)

BV 78b
Speed of processing changes in 

circumstances for HB/CT support claims
Days Low 7.0 On target 7.0 6.5 6.0

LGInform  (All England District 

Councils 2015 Q1)

BV 9
Proportion of council tax collected in the 

year
% High 97.30 On target 97.35 97.40 97.45

LGInform (All England District 

Councils 2014/15)

NI 156
Number of households living in temporary 

accommodation
Number Low 80 On target 85 80 75 LGInform (2015 Q1)

BV79b(i)
Proportion of recoverable benefit 

overpayments recovered during period
% High 67 On target 70 75 80

2013/14 =77.56% ave. 

2014/15 = 66.6% ave.

LI/HS/001
Number of long-term empty homes 

brought back into use
Number High 70

Not meeting 

target
75 80 85

2013/14 = 84

2014/15 = 86

NI 155
Number of affordable homes delivered 

(gross)
Number High 60 On target 75 85 100 LGInform (2013/14)

LI/ICT/06 Website availability % High 99
Not meeting 

target
99 99 99

2013/14 = 99

2014/15 = 99

LI/CCC/01 Missed bin collections 
Number per 

annum
Low 2,650

Better than 

target
2,650 2,650 2,650 This is a contractual target

LI/CSC/02 Proportion of abandoned calls % Low 5.0
Better than 

target
4.6 4.3 4.0

2013/14 = 3.8%

2014/15 = 3.8%

LI/CSC/04 Proportion of calls answered in 20 seconds % High 83 On target 83 84 85
2013/14 = 80.2%

2014/15 = 83.0%

LI/PS/03 Parking penalty charge notice recovery rate % High 65 On target 65 65 65
2013/14 =68.88%

2014/15 =68.95%

NI 14

Avoidable contact within the CSC: the 

proportion of customer contact that is of low 

or no value to the customer

% Low 5
Better than 

target
4 3 2

2013/14 = 1.5%

2014/15 = 1.8%

NI 191 Residual household waste kg Low 500
Better than 

target
480 460 440 LGInform 31 March 2014

NI 192
Proportion of household waste sent for 

reuse, recycling and composting
% High 44 On target 44 45 48 LGInform 31 March 2014

LI/CSC/03
Proportion of complaints responded to in 

10 working days
% High 90 On target 90 90 90

2013/14 =89.9%

2014/15 =87.5%

LI/CSC/06
Proportion of complaints escalating from 

Stage 1 to Stage 2 
% Low 7 On target 7 6 5

2013/14 =10.25% ave./qtr.

2014/15 =4.5% ave./qtr.

NI 195i
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness (levels of litter)
% Low 5 On target 4 3 3 CIPFA VFM Toolkit (Dec 2012)

NI 195ii
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness (levels of detritus)
% Low 8

Better than 

target
7 6 5 CIPFA VFM Toolkit (Dec 2012)

NI 195iii
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness (levels of graffitti)
% Low 1

Better than 

target
1 1 1 CIPFA VFM Toolkit (Dec 2012)

NI 195iv
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness (levels of fly-posting)
% Low 1

Better than 

target
1 1 1 CIPFA VFM Toolkit (Dec 2012)

NI 188 Planning to adapt to climate change Level High 3 On target 3 3 3
Audit Commission (All England 

2008/09)

BV 12a Long-term sickness absence Days Low 4.3
Better than 

target
4.2 4.2 4.2

LG Inform Benchmarking Club 

(2015 Q2 Report)

BV 12b Short-term sickness absence Days Low 3.2 On target 3.2 3.2 3.2
2013/14 = 3.53% 

2014/15 = 3.11%

BV218a
Proportion of new reports of abandoned 

vehicles investigated within 24 hours
% High 99.75

Better than 

target
99.75 99.75 99.75

Audit Commission (All England 

2007/08)

CSP/0001 All crime per 1,000 population Number Low 60.7
Not meeting 

target
61.7 62.7 63.7

Ssentif (All crime, all England 

Forces, Mar 14)

LI/PRO/03

Proportion of spend with businesses whose HQ 

is in Swale  or which is a significant local 

employer

% High 63
Better than 

target
75 78 80 NA

LI/DC/DCE/

04

Proportion of planning decisions delegated 

to officers
% High 88.0

Not meeting 

target
86.5 86.5 86.5

CLG (PSF Return) Table P132 All 

England (Year-ending June 2015)

LI/DC/DCE/

06
Proportion of planning applications refused % Low 15

Not meeting 

target
15 15 15

2013/14 = 17.07%

2014/15 = 13.2%

LI/DC/DCE/

07

Proportion of planning enforcemcent 

responses to complainant within 21 days
% High 80.0 On target 82.0 83.5 85.0 NA

LI/LS/LCC0

1

Proportion of all land searches completed 

in five working days
% High 74 On target 95 95 95

2012/13 = 94.80%

2013/14 = 97.70%

Page 15



Reference Description Unit

It's 

better

to be…

Target 

2015/16

Current 

performance

Fixed 

Target 

2016/17

Indicative 

Target 

2017/18

Indicative 

Target 

2018/19

Benchmark comparison source or 

note on Swale's past performance

LI/TBC/02
Proportion of major planning applications 

overturned at appeal
% Low 10

Better than 

target
10 10 10

2013/14 = 0%

2014/15 = < 1%

NI 157a
Proportion of major planning applications 

determined within 13 wks 
% High 83 On target 84 89 89

CLG (PSF Return) Table P132 All 

England (Year-ending June 2015)

NI 157b
Proportion of minor planning applications 

determined within 8 wks
% High 75 On target 78 82 82

CLG (PSF Return) Table P132 All 

England (Year-ending June 2015)

NI 157c
Proportion of other planning applications 

determined within 8 wks
% High 88 On target 89 91 91

CLG (PSF Return) Table P132 All 

England (Year-ending June 2015)

BV 8

Proportion of invoices for commercial goods 

and services paid within 30 days  of receipt or 

within agreed terms

% High 97
Better than 

target
97 97 97

Audit Commission (All England 

2007/08)

LI/IA/005
Percentage of Audit recommendations 

implemented
% High 95

Better than 

target
95 95 95 NA

LI/EH/001

Percentage of planning consultations 

responded to in 21 days (Environmental 

Health)

% High 85
Better than 

target
85 86 87 NA

LI/EH/002
The percentage of food hygiene nspections 

completed that were due
% High 90

Not meeting 

target
90 90 90 NA

Colour coding of targets relates to comparative performance. 

Best quartile. Performance at this level would place Swale among the best 25% of councils in the comparison group.

Better than median. Performance at this level would place Swale among the best 50% of councils in the comparison group.

Worse than median. Performance at this level would place Swale among the worst 50% of councils in the comparison group.

Worst quartile. Performance at this level would place Swale among the worst 25% of councils in the comparison group.

No comparison data is available for these indicators.

Page 16



Council
Meeting Date 16 March 2016

Report Title Review of Local Engagement Forums and Swale Rural 
Forum

Cabinet Member Cllr Mike Whiting, Cabinet Member for Localism, Sport, 
Culture and Heritage 

SMT Lead Kathryn Carr, Director of Regeneration

Head of Service Emma Wiggins, Head of Economy and Community 
Services

Lead Officer Sara Toal, Communications Manager

Recommendations 1. That the Local Engagement Forums and the Swale 
Rural Forum cease in their current form.

2. To note proposals for better ways to engage with our 
community, examples of which include;

 public meetings organised on an ad hoc but 
timely basis when there is a significant or 
contentious local issue that requires discussion 
so face-to-face communication is still available;

 introduce an engagement section on the 
website and Inside Swale magazine, so it is 
easier for residents to find out about services 
and what’s on;

 introduce direct email to residents informing of 
news, information; and

 continue to use social media such as Facebook 
and Twitter;

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 This report sets out details of the proposal made by Policy Development and 
Review Committee (PDRC) following a review carried out on the effectiveness of 
Swale Borough Council’s Local Engagement Forums and Swale Rural Forum.

1.2 The report also outlines the proposals for better ways to engage with our 
community.

2 Background

Local Engagement Forums

Page 17

Agenda Item 11



2.1 Kent County Council and Swale Borough Council established three local 
engagement forums (LEFs) across the Borough in January 2009, to engage, 
inform and consult residents across Swale in order to achieve their ambition to 
create better services, build positive relationships with communities, and to create 
confident and skilled community members.

Swale Rural Forum

2.2 Swale Borough Council established the Swale Rural Forum in December 2005 to 
discuss issues and make recommendations regarding rural problems, given the 
ambition to create better rural services and build positive relationships within the 
rural community.

2.3 The Forum was established to ‘rural proof’ relevant policy and strategy 
documents and, where appropriate, respond to consultations from local, County, 
regional, and national level organisations.

2.4 A review took place in 2014/15 to establish the effectiveness of Swale Borough 
Council’s Local Engagement Forums and Swale Rural Forum.  The PDRC was 
invited to provide feedback and input into the review in order to inform any 
changes or improvements for future years, or indeed determine whether the 
forums are the best means for the Council to engage with the public.

2.5 Following PDRC on 18 November 2015, the proposal made to Cabinet was that 
both the Local Engagement Forums and Swale Rural Forum cease in their 
current form, and that a consultation undertaken on better ways to engage.

2.6 A consultation took place from 21 December 2015, asking residents what 
methods of engagement they would value in terms of the Councils’ engagement 
with them.  Discussions also took place at the LEFs and the Rural Forum.  
Appendix I sets out the feedback.

2.7 Taking into consideration the feedback, proposals have been developed for better 
ways to engage with our community.  These are shown in Appendix II.  These 
new ways to engage will be promoted and publicised so people are aware of the 
change in approach.  A process for arranging the public meetings will also be 
developed. In summary new ways to engage include:

 public meetings organised on an ad hoc but timely basis when there is a 
significant or contentious local issue that requires discussion so face-to-
face communication is still available;

 introduce an engagement section on the website and Inside Swale 
magazine, so it is easier for residents to find out about services and what’s 
on;

 introduce direct email to residents informing of news, information; and

 continue to use social media such as Facebook and Twitter;

Page 18



3 Proposals

3.1 To recommend to Council that both the Local Engagement Forums and Swale 
Rural Forum cease in their current forms.

3.2 To note the proposals for better ways to engage with our community, examples 
include;

 public meetings organised on an ad hoc but timely basis when there is a 
significant or contentious local issue that requires discussion so face-to-
face communication is still available;

 introduce an engagement section on the website and Inside Swale 
magazine, so it is easier for residents to find out about services and what’s 
on;

 introduce direct email to residents informing of news, information; and

 continue to use social media such as Facebook and Twitter;

4 Alternative Options

4.1 To continue all three Local Engagement Forums and Swale Rural Forum.  This is 
not recommended as it is clear that these are not effective in engaging with the 
residents and community, and more efficient and effective engagement methods 
are required.

4.2 Assist community groups or other organisations to run and organise LEFs.  This 
is not recommended as even though such groups may be happy to take the lead, 
it will still require the Council to provide resource, and this is not an effective 
method of engaging with the community.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 Following consultation with members through the PDRC, consultation took place 
from 21 December 2015, including discussions at the LEFs and Rural forum.

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan Community Engagement contributes towards ‘a Borough to be 

proud of’ as it ensures that the Council listens and empowers local 
residents.

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

The cost of the introduction of a new direct email channel and a 
new website will be requested through a Performance Fund bid as 
part of a wider digital channel development project.  Should this bid 
be successful, these new online channels will be the main drivers 
of community engagement activity.  If not, our existing website will 

Page 19



be used at no cost to achieve the engagement proposals outlined, 
but in a more limited capacity due to existing technical capability.
A roadshow and public events are the only other elements of the 
proposals that require budget for delivery. Any additional budget 
required to develop materials and organise roadshow and public 
events will be allocated from the existing Communications Service 
campaigns budget, which is £13,500 per annum.

Legal and 
Statutory

None.

Crime and 
Disorder

By utilising new channels of engagement we will be able to 
promote the work of the Community Safety Partnership.

Sustainability Introducing primarily online channels of engagement and 
resourcing through the existing communications service ensures 
the campaign activity is sustainable.
We will also, through the new engagement channels, be able to 
promote and encourage community participation in recycling 
services.

Health and 
Wellbeing

By utilising new channels of engagement we will be able to 
promote and encourage community participation in Active Swale 
activities and events, and promote health and wellbeing messages 
from CCGs and the Chief Medical Officer to a wider audience and 
more frequently.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

None.

Equality and 
Diversity

Proving new channels for community engagement increases 
accessibility to groups who may not have engaged with the Council 
previously.

7 Appendices

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:
 Appendix I: Consultation Results
 Appendix II: Community Engagement Proposals

8 Background Papers

8.1 LEF and Swale Rural Forum paper PDRC November 2015 
http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=127&MId=1585
&Ver

Page 20

http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=127&MId=1585&Ver
http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=127&MId=1585&Ver


Appendix I

Consultation Results – Local Engagement Forums 

Local Engagement Forum You Said We Did
Faversham  “Forums are valued as they currently are and are a great form of 

engagement.” 

 “Swale Borough Council website is poor and doesn’t make it easy 
for the public to reach information about the forums due to the 
layout – suggested putting LEFs under ‘Committee Meetings’ on 
website.” 

 “Agenda is advertised too late – two weeks’ notice isn’t enough.”

 “Suggest the use of an email group.” 

 “The name of the forums shouldn’t change, as recorded in the 
minutes from PDRC on 18 November.”

 “Overall publicity/communication isn’t as effective as it could 
potentially be.”

 “Despite the same attendees at each forum, the information is 
being fed back by the representative to groups/organisations.” 

 “Suggested promotion in Inside Swale.”

 “Send to other social media pages to advertise, for instance 
Faversham TC, groups/organisations in the area.”

 “More should be published in the papers, including a follow up 
from the meeting.”

 “Residents highlighted the importance of face to face engagement 
with the Council and the benefit of a general forum to discuss 
issues of the day.”

 “It is the only forum for parish council’s engagement.”

 “Critical of the extent of consultation with some advocating that it 
be 'run again with publicity' and that the website is 'impenetrable'.”

Improvements are planned 
to the Council’s website in 
2016 which will address the 
points raised.

Promotion of the ways the 
Council will engage will take 
place, including in Inside 
Swale

Public meetings will still take 
place but on an ad hoc basis 
when there is a significant/ 
contentious issue

P
age 21



 “Don’t want the entire process to be put online/social media as not 
everyone has easy access.”

 “Residents can’t speak or raise a question at Faversham TC 
meetings due to being in the surrounding parishes and so value 
LEF meeting.”

Sheppey  “When LEF’s were first set up to replace the old Sheppey Area 
Committees, they were fully engaged and the meetings had a 
purpose.”

 “Public attendance at the LEFs is poor. Before, when there was 
an issue it was standing room only. Public would speak first 
before items, as well as ‘chip-in’.”

 “The Area Committees made expenditure decisions and LEFs are 
not fulfilling this and are not effectively engaging.”

 “No problem with LEFs being removed, issues will be raised and 
will be consulted with the public when needed.”

 “Supported Area Committees when a Parish Councillor. Major 
issues aren’t being put on the agendas, for instance consultation 
on Sheppey Hospital.  There needs to be a better mechanism to 
trigger a positive/good discussion.”

 “Supported Area Committees – good officer/member support and 
budget.  Should have meetings when necessary and based 
around specific items, not scheduled in ‘religiously’.”

 “Agenda is advertised too late – two weeks’ notice isn’t enough.”

 “Public office workers and members of the public do attend at 
Parish Level. LEF should not use non-attendance of public as it 
not being relevant.”

 “Support single issue meetings and suggests a coordinator rings 
PCs to see what issues are and coordinate a meeting.”

 “LEF’s get Police and KFRS attendance whereas Parish meetings 
do not and so commends LEFs.”

 “LEFs are a good mechanism for community networking with 
partners.”

Noted and supports the 
recommendation in the 
report.

Improvements are planned 
to the Council’s website in 
2016 which will address the 
points raised.

Promotion of the ways the 
Council will engage will take 
place, including in Inside 
Swale

Public meetings will still take 
place but on an ad hoc basis 
when there is a significant/ 
contentious issue

P
age 22



 “Aren’t fulfilling purpose unless a major issue of concern/ interest 
is present.”

Sittingbourne  “Swale Borough Council website is poor and doesn’t make it easy 
for the public to reach information about the forums due to the 
layout and accessibility issues.”

 “The name of the forums doesn’t attract people to attend.“

 “Press coverage needs to improve.”

 “Promotion in Inside Swale.”

 “More promotion on Social Media.”

 “Supportive of engagement with the Council but require better 
ways to do so.”

Improvements are planned 
to the Council’s website in 
2016 which will address the 
points raised.

Promotion of the ways the 
Council will engage will take 
place, including in Inside 
Swale and on social media.

Public meetings will still take 
place but on an ad hoc basis 
when there is a significant/ 
contentious issue.

P
age 23



Consultation Results – Rural Forum 

You Said We Did
  The Rural Forum is different to LEFS and as such shouldn’t have been included in the review 

as it has a different purpose (rural proofing) as opposed to community engagement. 

 There is still a need to for a forum/ meeting where rural issues are raised and discussed 
between partners and the council and so this needed to be considered if the Forum was 
stopped

 KALC is not that forum as it served a different purpose, one of supporting PCs in their 
administration

 Parish Councils have their own meetings where issues raised at the Forum could be discussed 
and if ward councillors attended these that could be a suggestion 

 Given the lack of public attendance, the Forum served no purpose and was not effective 
 The reason the public didn’t attend was due to the fact the agendas were not interesting 

enough nor was the meeting promoted effectively
 The Rural Forum has clout and so effective as it did get SBC or KCC etc to listen and act eg 

Bredgar broadband
 Agencies are reluctant to attend and indeed the Police will probably not be able to resource 

attendance in the future

To continue to discuss rural 
‘strategic’ issues/ rural 
proofing, the Green Grid 
Partnership will look to 
extend its two open meetings 
a year to the invite list of the 
Rural Forum

Scrutiny Committee can be 
used to ‘rural proof’ key 
issues

The Leader will write to 
Swale KALC to reiterate that 
he or a nominated deputy is 
available to attend meetings 
if an invitation is extended 

Rural Round – up will 
continue as a newsletter to 
promote and inform on rural 
issues

P
age 24



Consultation Results – Online Questionnaire 

You Said We Did
Q1 - Are you aware of the ways you can engage with the Council at the moment? If no, why?

73% - Yes

27% - No, comments below:

 “You don’t listen or act anyway.”

 “Not needed to so never looked.”

 “How do you find out about times, venue etc.”

 “Never been informed.”

Noted

Q2 - How have you/do you currently engage with the Council? Please specify if you have ever:

Attended a LEF or other public meeting?

60% - Yes

40% - No 

Followed us/made a comment on social media?

69% - Yes

31% - No

Responded to a survey/consultation? (other than this one)

66% - Yes

34% - No

Written a letter/email to your Councillor/ the Leader?

60% - Yes

40% - No

Attended a Council or Committee meeting?

53% - Yes

47% - No 

NotedP
age 25



If no to any of the above, why not?

 “You don't listen or act on what we ask you to do.”

 “More people would probably attend an LEF if they knew what LEF meant.  Perhaps it should just be 
called a Have Your Say meeting?  And the people on the panel should be advertised at least three weeks 
in advance.  With their names and what they do on posters.  Shops should be asked to posters in their 
windows.”

 “Didn't think I could make a difference.”

 “Work commitments, lack of knowledge of events.”

 “Didn’t know I could.”

 “Don't use social media. No need to write a letter/email to Councillor.”

Q3 - Do you think the Council provides the best opportunities to enable you to engage at the moment? Are they accessible to you?

36% - Yes

64% - No, comments below:

 No – “Email address for every department should be on a list on contact page of the website instead of 
being blocked by customer service staff that lack customer service.  List more numbers than just the 
customer service number.”

 No – “No information.”

 No – “Not well publicised and discussions are not flowing rather than councillors won’t move from the 
agenda or give open answers.”

 No – “The LEFs are not sufficiently engagement in that run by the council who set the agenda.  Should 
have variety of different chairmen; rotate between councillors and (capable!) members of the public.  Too 
much a forum for offloading Council issues rather than driven by the public.”

 Yes – “I am informed because I proactively dig for info.  Those who are not informed probably are not yet 
aware of this survey.  The PROBLEM is for SBC to get the message out to those who do not read Inside 
Swale, do not attend meetings, maybe do use FACEBOOK, and are generally ignorant until they have a 
specific problem that they wish to be addressed.”

 No – “Limited information, do they hold the meetings in various venues or it is always Sittingbourne.  What 
about people living in high deprivation areas?”

 No – “Forums are always held on a Tuesday.”

Noted.  Comment 
regarding customer 
services passed to 
head of service. 

P
age 26



 No – “Didn’t know anything about it.”

 No – “These surveys should have a middle button for people who think engagement is sort of OK but 
could be better.”

 No – “You are slow, unresponsive and find excuses not to act.”

Q4 - Are you interested in engaging with the Council more and/or in different ways?

67% - Yes

33% - No 

Comments below:

 “I just would like to know what is going on without relying on the local paper which isn't the best.”

 “There needs to be more public involvement in local decision making.”

 “Progress.”

 “More frequent opportunities to meet such as LEFs but run on different basis.  Need to think out detail re 
how run, who sets agenda (if one needed), venues etc.  Need to change the format on regular basis so 
keeps fresh.”

 “Online surveys would be a good addition as I cannot to evening meetings.”

 “I like to know what’s going on.”

 “Would be helpful to know how to.”

 “For the good of the wider community.”

Noted

Q5 - What would encourage you to engage more with the Council in future? Are there specific subjects that are of particular interest to 
you, that you would like to be involved with, give ideas and feedback, or be kept informed and up to date about? 

 “My time is too valuable to discuss with you, when you always have only good reasons not to do things.  
More accountability is needed - I want to see people held accountable to do their work, not making 
excuses all the time.”

 “LEF meetings that are only held when there are important issues, not just at set times in the year when 
nothing is happening.”

 “Sheppey tourism.”

 “Planning and Regeneration.”

 “Not currently, I would only engage on subjects that interest me at the time.”

Noted

P
age 27



 “Different venues and times, local meetings in accessible places.  Greater promotion of meetings and 
remember not everyone is unemployed in Swale.  There are people who actually work!”

 Not really sure if you mean engage with Council or Councillors.  The two are different! I'd like to enquire for 
example into how the council operates as have seen and heard of many instances where it appears 
council unaware of its responsibilities and obligations.”

 Anything affecting Faversham, especially the Creek and heritage.”

 More publicity quicker meetings more to the point, quick action on points raised.”

Q6 - Are there specific decision-makers/people in the council or other public bodies (e.g. Police, Kent County Council, Fire & Rescue 
Service, NHS) you would like to engage with and why?

 “We haven’t seen a policeman here in ages - people break the law here all the time: speeding, theft, 
burglary.  Yet police are not controlling it.”

 “Kent Police, KFRS, KCC, NHS, all should be available to be questioned and have suggestions given by 
the public.”

 Police, KCC Highways, Local health organisations such as Swale CCG and KMPT.”
 “I feel Swale needs the opportunity to engage with health representatives in particular, the CCGs.  I would 

also like the opportunity to discuss local issues with KCC.”
 “I found that the LEF's provided a FORUM, as opposed to Committee Members' Debate and DECISIONS.”
 “I think other bodies could be dealt with separately.  There is enough to be getting on with looking more 

deeply into the council operations.  Also if e.g. Police come to a meeting it becomes a talk by the police 
(taking up much time) not a forum for discussion.”

 “Councillors.”

Noted

Q7 - Are there any different methods of engagement that would you would prefer to use and be more likely to participate in?

Join live online discussions/Q&As?
38% - Yes
53% - No
9% - N/A
 “These services are often unregulated and you have to wait long periods until you get a response.”

 “Can get a bit long winded unless chaired effectively.”

 Nice and modern.”

Noted

P
age 28



View online meetings/presentations?

69% - Yes

31% - No 

 “Easy for more people to get involved who cannot get to meetings.”

 “Anyone can watch when they have some spare time, not just on a specific date or time.”

Attend public meetings in your area?

86% - Yes

7% - No 

7% - N/A

 “Less interest in talking about how the Council is taking action.”

 “Yes but need advance warning.”

 “Keep LEFs but radically alter structure, who runs etc.”

 Meetings are not easy to attend.”

 If they were more localised to the area not Sheppey-wide but about Minster.”

Receive email newsletter/updates?

92% - Yes

8% - No

 “Yes, straight to computer.”

 “Work commitments mean not always able to attend.”

 Yes – can read as and when I want.”

Follow/comment through social media?

79% - Yes

21% - No 

 “Facebook is good.”

 “Would expect prompt responses.”

P
age 29



 “I do this now; you can comment but get little reply.”

Read and comment on online blogs?

54% - Yes

46% - No 

 “Most blogs are boring.”

Attend public information events/exhibitions/displays?

80% - Yes

6% - No

14% - N/A

 “Preferably at weekends and evenings.”

 “Need to be promoted and available outside normal working hours.”

Send letters/emails to Councillors/Leader?

72% - Yes

21% - No 

7% - N/A

 “Always a means of communication.”

Respond to surveys/consultations – by post/door to door/online?

76% - Yes

24% - No

 “Surveys are a pain. If have to do them, online is easiest.”

 “Online is convenient.”

Attend Committee/Council meetings?

76% - Yes

15% - No

9% - N/A

P
age 30



 “Need to be arranged at different times.”

Q8 - What would you like to get out of the engagement you have with the Council in future?  For example, you may want to get 
answers to questions, have opportunities to have a say, to feel listened to, raise an issue, get more/better information about what’s 
happening locally and council decisions and services, or something else.  What would matter most to you?

 “I want to be able to ask them to so sometime - for example stop the speeding through my village - and 
then I want them to demonstrate progress by the next meeting rather than shuffle papers, accountabilities 
and excuses.”

 “Keep the LEF but make it less of a forced act, don't set it every few months but hold them when they are 
required.”

 “Subscribe to free email results service of all decisions made in meetings.”

 “Proper information not sensationalised.”

 “Depends on the subject.”

 “The opportunity to raise concerns and have a voice.  Also, to get answers.”

 “Bins and planning that's all.  Don't want to pay for or need any other services.  All this cultural stuff you do 
is an utter waste of time and money.  And for God sake will you take down the 'it's here' bill boards around 
the town, they are (a) a false claim as none of it is 'here yet' and (b) are an utter eyesore.”

 “Need to look at when and where meetings held all means of communication.  Online surveys are now 
becoming very significant.”

 “All methods of modern communication would be encouraging engagement with all residents especially 
the younger generation, busy people and those less mobile.”

 “Everything matters but at the moment it is getting the Council to put in two parks on Thistle Hill which they 
have the money and land for but have done little to move forwards to installing and the Green Spaces 
Manager has ignored my emails for a month.”

Noted

P
age 31



Appendix II

Community engagement proposals 

Feedback from the consultation process reveals that in order to successfully engage 
with the wider community the Council will need to look at more accessible ways of 
enabling public involvement beyond the traditional LEF public meetings and Rural 
Forum, and to embrace more modern channels for engagement and the desire for ‘real 
time’ engagement.

It is evident from the feedback that the ways the community can engage with the Council 
needs to be accessible, at a place and time convenient for the resident, clearly 
signposted, simplified and humanised to encourage greater awareness of the 
opportunities available, and to improve community participation.  

Online channels potentially provide a wide reach across the community, are much more 
accessible for residents to engage with in the comfort of their own home or when out 
and about on a mobile device/ tablet at a time convenient for them, and offer us a cost-
effective means of engagement.  As such, it is proposed that these channels are used 
as the main driver for community engagement, supplemented by face-to-face activity 
when required.

It is proposed that community engagement focus on the following areas.

 What the Council is responsible for – what the Council does for you and your 
community and how to access its services, providing clear information and links to 
how residents can engage with other public bodies on the issues for which they are 
responsible.

 What’s happening in the Borough – keeping citizens up to date about the latest 
issues the Council is addressing for them (both Council-wide initiatives and local 
concerns), activities and events taking place (in partnership with Visit Swale), how 
the Council has listened to feedback, the decisions it makes, and why it comes to 
the decisions it does.

 Delivery, success and change - what the Council is doing to make Swale a better 
place, the progress being made, and how it is spending council taxpayers’ money.

 How to get involved - how the community can find and receive regular 
information, be involved in Council activities and their community (e.g. 
volunteering, community litterpicks, events), participate in consultations, and 
provide feedback.

These proposals are not intended to replace the current direct engagement activities 
undertaken by customer services, those that service areas undertake for their specific 
work and projects, engagement within Wards, with Parish Councils, or Council 
meetings.  Rather, they are designed to look at new ways the Council as a whole can 
improve the focus, accessibility, timeliness and consistency of community engagement 
at a corporate level in support of those efforts.

Page 32



Proposed engagement channels and frequency

Channel Purpose Frequency
Website Introduce an engagement section on the website 

that consolidates engagement activity.  For 
example, to provide a simple explanation of the 
Council’s services and how to access them, how to 
find out what’s happening when, a summary of 
latest news and forthcoming decisions/ changes, 
highlighting forthcoming/latest meetings (and those 
available to view online), listing events and 
consultations in which the community can 
participate, and providing an opt-in option to 
receiving direct email communication from the 
Council.

To be updated 
daily as required.

Direct 
email

Introducing a direct email channel (subject to 
successful Performance Fund bid) to provide direct 
news, information, links to online services, and 
alerts to residents in a timely way.
This supports engagement but also has the potential 
to encourage greater channel shift by targeting 
residents to undertake online transactions at the 
appropriate time, by providing links to online 
services, and alerts and reminders directly to their 
inbox.

Standard 
newsletter 
delivered monthly, 
and notifications 
issued on an ad-
hoc basis for 
announcements 
and service alerts 
as required.

Social 
media

Undertake video blogs* of councillors providing 
succinct and informal commentary about what the 
hot topics are of the moment, explanations of 
announcements, and/or changes taking place to 
encourage debate and comments on current issues 
and concerns.
*Transcripts would be available online for those without 
audio capability.

Utilise corporate social media channels to drive 
debate and gain informal feedback, inform residents 
about consultations, ask questions and encourage 
comments when highlighting council services e.g. 
when publicising a deep clean or litterpick, ‘It’s Your 
Swale – Did this make a difference?/ suggest an 
area/ get involved/ learn where we are heading 
next’.

Four times per 
year/ or as 
required.

Delivered weekly 
as part of the wider 
social media 
schedule.

Inside 
Swale 
magazine

Introduce a section to the magazine where 
members of the community and councillors debate 
an issue.  This could be a complex issue that 
requires explanation, a rumour that needs quashing, 

Delivered quarterly 
- to be introduced 
from June 2016 
edition.

Page 33



a hot-topic people are keen to know more about, or 
a forthcoming decision that may be contentious.
This topic could also be developed as a short and 
informal video for use on website and social media 
as described above.

Roadshow A mobile exhibit that travels to key locations (e.g. 
high streets, supermarkets, libraries, village halls, 
post-offices).  Managed by the Communications 
Service and relevant service teams, and attended 
by Members.
The exhibit could be topic-specific - for example, 
relating to the regeneration of the Borough - or 
undertaken to annually showcase progress against 
the corporate plan, what is making Swale a better 
place, inform residents about forthcoming Council 
activity and plans, and to promote current 
consultations and other methods of engagement.
This roadshow would bring the Council to places of 
high footfall and provide an informal opportunity for 
residents to learn more, raise questions, and 
provide comments directly to officers and Members 
in a familiar setting without significant time 
commitment on their part.
Roadshow schedule, locations and outcomes (what 
was raised and what we do with the feedback) 
would be publicised via all online ‘Your Swale’ 
channels to reach beyond those people who directly 
interact with us on the day.

Visit key locations 
during the Summer

Public 
meetings

Formal public meetings on contentious/important 
topics held in the locality involved.

Organisation of 
public meetings as 
and when required

Develop process of 
how these would 
be arranged, why, 
when , where etc 

Local 
Councillors

Involve and encourage local councillors as part of 
their community leadership role to engage with local 
residents

As and when 
required

It is proposed that the community engagement channels as described are developed, 
scheduled and delivered by the Communications Team, with the support of all service 
areas and Members to provide direction, regular content, and to actively participate in 
direct engagement with the public in the areas described.

Page 34



Council
Meeting Date 16 March 2016

Report Title Amendment to Note i of Part 3.2.1 of the Constitution – 
Head of Planning ‘call-in’ powers

Cabinet Member Cllr Gerald Lewin, Cabinet Member for Planning

SMT Lead Kathryn Carr

Head of Service James Freeman

Lead Officer James Freeman

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations 1. Agree NOT to amend the constitution following the 
motion submitted by Members

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 The following motion, proposed by Councillor Mike Baldock and seconded by 
Councillor Mark Ellen, was submitted to the Council on 27 January 2016:
“To amend note i of Part 3.2.1 of the Constitution from "that in cases where the 
Committee is minded to make a decision that would be contrary to officer 
recommendation and contrary to policy and/or guidance, the Chairman should 
invite the Head of Planning to consider if the application should be deferred to the 
next meeting of the Committee or if there should be a short adjournment for 
Officers to consider the views of the Planning Committee and to give further 
advice."
to
"That in cases where the Committee is minded to make a decision that would be 
contrary to officer recommendation and contrary to policy and/or guidance, the 
Chairman should invite the Head of Planning to consider if there should be a 
short adjournment for Officers to consider the views of the Planning Committee 
and to give further advice at the same meeting."

1.2 As per the Council’s constitution, the motion was referred without discussion to 
this Committee so that a full report explaining the position and implications of the 
motion could be considered.

Page 35

Agenda Item 12



1.3 This report explains the background to the current constitution position, and 
considers the pros and cons of the motion.  As a result, it sets out a 
recommendation that, on balance, the benefits of minimising the risks of 
substantial costs and potential adverse impact on the reputation of the Council 
are significant enough to suggest that the existing constitutional arrangements 
should be maintained.

2 Background

Constitutional background

2.1 The Local Planning Authority has to make decisions balancing the material 
considerations to avoid challenge, and these powers assist in ensuring that the 
Council complies with its responsibility under Article 13 of the constitution in that 
the following principles must be followed:
(a) Proportionality
(b) Due consideration and the taking of professional advice from officers
(c) Respect for human rights
(d) A presumption in favour of openness
(e) Clarity of aims and desired outcomes
(f) Due regard for the individuals and communities served by SBC.

2.2 Most often, the Planning Committee will review the evidence brought forward by 
officers, and respect the recommendation that is set out in the report.  However, 
on occasions the Planning Committee may be minded to reject the 
recommendation that has been set out.  On such occasions, the issue is whether 
the Planning Committee is able to articulate good reasons for its position, as 
judged against Planning legislation, Planning Case Law, and local planning 
policy.

2.3 Regardless of the reasons given by the Planning Committee, in such cases the 
applicant has the right to appeal the decision.  However, in the absence of any 
such sound reasons, then not only is the appeal much more likely to succeed, but 
costs are also likely to awarded against the Council, on the basis that the Council 
has acted unreasonably and has caused another party to incur unnecessary 
expense as a result.  Unreasonable behaviour in this instance would relate to 
issues surrounding the merits of the appeal – please refer to appendix 1 for 
examples.  Costs to the Council can range from a few thousand pounds to well in 
excess of £100k for major significant planning applications and would be 
dependant on the reasons for refusal.

2.4 In order to mitigate the likelihood of such an event, the Council introduced into its 
Constitution the option of a ‘call-in’ power for the Head of Planning (or his 
designated deputy) to call in a planning application at Planning Committee when 
the Committee was minded to make such a decision without strong planning 

Page 36



arguments for doing so.  This is designed to allow time to review the position and 
provide further evidence to the Committee, such that a decision that is sound in 
planning terms is more likely to be arrived at, including the drafting of viable 
reasons for refusal.

Use of the powers in practice

2.5 Swale BC was one of the first Councils to introduce such ‘cooling-off’ powers in 
Kent, and since then many authorities have adopted similar powers into their 
constitutions.  At Swale, the power is used on an infrequent basis and only where 
the Head of Planning Services believes that the Council would be at a significant 
risk of having costs awarded against it and/or having a prejudicial impact for the 
continuing future use of an adopted planning policy, and the resultant cumulative 
consequential costs.

2.6 The ‘call-in’ powers have been in place for many years and have been used only 
on a few occasions.  In the most recent five years the powers have been used on 
eleven occasions, as follows:

 in four cases, Planning Committee followed HoS recommendation to 
Approve;

 in five cases Planning Committee chose to refuse the planning application;

 in one case the applicant withdrew their application following the ‘call-in’; 
and

 in one case the application is still in the Call In process (Perry Court).

2.7 All five of the refusals resulted in an Appeal being made, with the following 
outcomes:

 in one case the Appeal was withdrawn by the applicant;

 in two cases the Appeal was allowed
- in one of these cases costs were not sought (Woodlands Lodge);
- in one of these cases costs were sought but refused (land rear of Bell 

Centre); and

 in two cases the Appeal process is still underway (New Rides Farm and 
Seager Rd).

2.8 Whilst the Council has not been subject to any significant costs in relation to any 
‘called-in’ planning application, one of the outstanding cases regarding a wind 
farm application may well give rise to significant costs against the Council should 
the Planning Committee’s reasons for refusal not be accepted by the Planning 
Inspector.  The Planning Committee was recently advised that the costs could  
amount to £200K+ and accepted that the ‘health’ reason for refusal should be 

Page 37



removed, although costs remain likely to amount to substantially above £100K 
should the Council’s other reasons for refusal be found unsubstantiated.

2.9 Similarly, any major scheme involving housing development where we currently 
have no five-year housing land supply and no substantive national planning 
designation protecting the site, if refused and exposed at appeal could lead to 
significant legal and technical costs of over £100K.

2.10 The existence of the ‘call-in’ procedures enables the Head of Planning to 
consider, either with regard to the policy background to a particular case or the 
evidence submitted, that the Council could be found by an Inspector to have 
acted unreasonably given its stated reasons for refusing a planning application.

2.11 The call-in procedure therefore allows:
(i) these issues to be highlighted;
(ii) an assessment to be made of the likely implications for the overturn, 

including the reasons for refusal sought;
(iii) assessment of the likelihood of succeeding at appeal; and
(iv) assessment of whether the Council could be subjected to significant costs.

2.12 When considering potential ‘call-in’ decisions, the Head of Planning will base his 
judgement on the balance of the material planning considerations involved, and 
the consequential likelihood of the risks of significant costs to the Council, or 
where the future application of agreed Local Plan policy could be prejudiced.

2.13 All of the above considerations would usually require extensive review and 
analysis, including reference to case law and evaluation of complex evidence.  
This can often require specialist input (and potential research) that may not be 
readily available at the Planning Committee for the Head of Planning to refer to, 
and cannot be dealt with through a short adjournment.

Pros and Cons

2.14 Given the above, the pros and cons of the Motion can be set out, as follows:

Pros if the Motion is adopted Cons if the Motion is adopted
 Enable members of the public to 

attend only one meeting with the 
prospect of reaching a determination, 
unless the matter is deferred by 
members of the Committee

 Consequently reduces the potential for 
confusion and frustration of the general 
public

 Unrealistic expectations of officers 
being able to respond effectively in a 
short space of time to complex issues 
raised by members, including:
- the robustness of the reasons for 

refusal being sought;
- enabling a full legal and technical 

review and assessment of those 

Page 38



 Reduce any perception that officers 
are over-ruling the Planning 
Committee

 Speed up decision making and 
contribute to meeting targets

 Prevent decision-making delay and the 
associated costs of reporting to a 
further Committee meeting

issues; and
- the risks of potential costs to the 

Council e.g. reference to previous 
case law

 Lead to officers not being able to fully 
consider all the issues, implications 
and risks and, consequently, not being 
able to inform the Planning Committee 
of all the issues involved in making a 
sound decision

 Increase the risk to the Council of 
receiving significant costs for 
‘unreasonableness’ in decision making 
- which can amount to significant sums 
in excess of £100K

 Lose the opportunity for ‘cooling-off’ 
from the controversy and high public 
profile of items presented at a Planning 
Committee meeting, buying the time 
for further consideration

3 Proposals

3.1 Given the balance of pros and cons set out above, it is considered that there are 
no significant implications for continuing to allow a ‘call-in’ period.  On the few 
occasions that it is actually used, it enables the Planning Committee to make a 
robust decision based on full consideration of the evidence and potential 
implications of going against an officer recommendation.

3.2 In the absence of such Constitutional option, the potential risks to the Council of 
costly appeal decisions would be much greater, in the absence of the time to 
provide the Committee with the necessary officer advice, which may require 
specialist research and support in informing Committee Members before a formal 
decision is made.

4 Alternative Options

4.1 The report considers the existing constitutional process compared with the 
proposed Motion for change, and the arguments for both are set out above.

4.2 There are potentially myriad minor alternatives to the existing wording of the 
Constitution which could be considered – for example, the power of call-in could 
fall to the Chair of the Planning Committee under advice from the Head of 
Planning.

Page 39



4.3 An alternative approach has been adopted at South Oxfordshire where the Head 
of Planning considers that he/she may wish to use the “cooling off” powers, 
he/she will inform the Planning Committee accordingly before the meeting 
proceeds to the next item. He/she will then consult with the Cabinet Member for 
Planning or in his/her absence the Leader of the Council and confirm his/her 
decision by noon on the second working day after the date on which the decision 
was taken.  If he/she confirms a “cooling off period”, he/she will not issue the 
decision notice but will bring a further report to the committee at the first 
opportunity setting out the relevant issues and inviting it to reconsider the matter.  
The decision taken by the Committee having considered this second report will be 
final and the Head of Planning will issue the decision notice.

4.4 Maidstone Borough Council have also included within their constitution an 
alternative approach involving the setting up of a Planning Referrals Committee.  
This Committee is comprised of three councillors from each of the largest three 
political groups, excluding Councillors and substitute members of the Planning 
Committee.  This group will then determine planning applications referred to it by 
the Head of Planning and Development if s/he is of the opinion that the decision 
of the Planning Committee is likely to have significant cost implications.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 The Planning Committee Chair have been consulted on the motion and the report 
and his views will be verbally presented at the meeting

5.2 Whichever option is agreed, it is important to ensure that the public gallery and 
applicants are made fully aware of what decisions are being voted upon and what 
procedures are being implemented.

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan A well run Planning Committee contributes to the “A council to be 

proud of” priority, in terms of supporting the efficiency and 
performance of the Council.

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

It is not possible to identify what the likely financial risks are to the 
Council of agreeing to the Motion as put forward.  However, as a 
marker the current appeal being considered for the Four Rides 
Farm wind turbine appeal is expected to incur circa £400,000 costs 
both internally and relating to the applicant.
Any significant costs claim would need to be met from reserves.

Legal and 
Statutory

Covered in the main report.

Crime and None identified.

Page 40



Disorder

Sustainability None identified.

Health and 
Wellbeing

None identified.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

Any risks associated with the item relate to financial and 
reputational risks.

Equality and 
Diversity

None identified.

7 Appendices

7.1 Appendix I:  National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG): What type of behaviour 
may give rise to a substantive award against a local planning authority?

8 Background Papers

8.1 Council Constitution – weblink

http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=1469
&Ver=4&Info=1&a=1

Page 41

http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=1469&Ver=4&Info=1&a=1
http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=1469&Ver=4&Info=1&a=1


APPENDIX I

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
What type of behaviour may give rise to a substantive award 
against a local planning authority?

Local planning authorities are at risk of an award of costs if they behave unreasonably 
with respect to the substance of the matter under appeal, for example, by unreasonably 
refusing or failing to determine planning applications, or by unreasonably defending 
appeals. Examples of this include:

 preventing or delaying development which should clearly be permitted, having 
regard to its accordance with the development plan, national policy and any other 
material considerations.

 failure to produce evidence to substantiate each reason for refusal on appeal

 vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions about a proposal’s impact, which are 
unsupported by any objective analysis.

 refusing planning permission on a planning ground capable of being dealt with by 
conditions risks an award of costs, where it is concluded that suitable conditions 
would enable the proposed development to go ahead

 acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law

 persisting in objections to a scheme or elements of a scheme which the Secretary 
of State or an Inspector has previously indicated to be acceptable

 not determining similar cases in a consistent manner

 failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme that is the subject of an 
extant or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances

 refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage

 imposing a condition that is not necessary, relevant to planning and to the 
development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other 
respects, and thus does not comply with the guidance in the National Planning 
Policy Framework on planning conditions and obligations

 requiring that the appellant enter into a planning obligation which does not accord 
with the law or relevant national policy in the National Planning Policy Framework, 
on planning conditions and obligations

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf


 refusing to enter into pre-application discussions, or to provide reasonably 
requested information, when a more helpful approach would probably have 
resulted in either the appeal being avoided altogether, or the issues to be 
considered being narrowed, thus reducing the expense associated with the appeal

 not reviewing their case promptly following the lodging of an appeal against refusal 
of planning permission (or non-determination), or an application to remove or vary 
one or more conditions, as part of sensible on-going case management.

 if the local planning authority grants planning permission on an identical application 
where the evidence base is unchanged and the scheme has not been amended in 
any way, they run the risk of a full award of costs for an abortive appeal which is 
subsequently withdrawn

(This list is not exhaustive).

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Council/ Meeting
Meeting Date 16 March 2016

Report Title Constitution review

Cabinet Member Cllr Andrew Bowles, Leader.

SMT Lead Mark Radford, Director of Corporate Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Head of Service
Lead Officer Katherine Bescoby, Democratic and Electoral Services 

Manager

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations 1. Council Procedure Rules in relation to amendment 
to the budget be clarified by the addition of the following 
wording:

In proposing any changes to the budget any 
amendment must ensure that the proposal 
achieves a balanced budget

2. The revised scheme of officer delegations as set 
out in the working papers to the report be adopted.

3. The Planning Committee Procedure Note as out in 
the working papers be adopted as part of the Constitution.

4. Council Procedure Rules Para 19 (2) be amended 
as follows:

(2)  If five councillors present at a Council meeting, 
three councillors present at a Committee/Panel  or two 
Councillors present at a Sub- Committee meeting 
demand it, the names for and against the motion or 
amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down 
in writing and entered into the minutes

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 This report sets out the recommendations from General Purposes Committee 
(GPC) held on 2 March 2016 for consideration and adoption by Council.

Page 45

Agenda Item 13



The report sets out the details of:

 A minor amendment to clarify the Council Procedure Rules in relation to 
motions submitted as amendment to the budget to ensure that business is 
conducted effectively and efficiently. 

 Suggested changes to the Officer Scheme of Delegation.
 Suggested Planning Committee Procedure Note. 
 Suggested changes to the voting procedures contained within 4.1 Council 

procedure Notes

(Whilst   a review of all the procedure rules has been undertaken, it should be 
noted that regulations and the statutory Modular Constitution guidance means 
that the review has concentrated on those areas where the Council has 
discretion.)

Elsewhere on the agenda there are separate reports relating to:

 the review of the Local Engagement Forums and the Rural Forum and
 the motion that was referred from Council on 27 January to amend note (i) 

of Part 3.2.1 of the Constitution in relation to the Head of Planning’s 
delegation to defer matters where the Committee is minded to make a 
decision that would be contrary to officer recommendation and contrary to 
policy and/or guidance

2. Background

2.1 Attached to this report are the papers presented to General Purposes Committee. 
The working paper in relation to planning committee procedure note has been 
revised to reflect GPC’s discussion on declaration of interests.

3. Proposals

3.1 Council is asked to agree to the recommendations submitted by GPC as follows 
that:

1. Council Procedure Rules in relation to amendment to the budget be 
clarified by the addition of the following wording:

In proposing any changes to the budget any amendment must ensure 
that the proposal achieves a balanced budget

2. The revised scheme of officer delegations as set out in the working 
papers to the report be adopted.

3. The Planning Committee Procedure Note as out in the working papers 
be adopted as part of the Constitution.

Page 46



4. Council Procedure Rules Para 19 (2) be amended as follows:

(2)  If five councillors present at a Council meeting, three councillors 
present at a Committee/Panel  or two Councillors present at a Sub- Committee 
meeting demand it, the names for and against the motion or amendment or 
abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the minutes.

4 Alternative Options

4.1 There is discretion on the proposals set out in the Working Papers; matters where 
there is no discretion in relation to law and statutory guidance do not form part of 
this report.

4.2 GPC have considered the working papers and made the recommendations set 
out in para 2.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 The review of the Constitution is the role of GPC. All members do receive all 
council agendas and reports and can attend the Committee. All recommendations 
from GPC have to be agreed by Council

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan Having an up to date Constitution is important for good governance 

and decision making and is part of the Council to be proud of 
objective.

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

None at this stage, it is anticipated that the work arising out of the 
review will be contained within existing resources.

Legal and 
Statutory

Where there is a change as a result of legislation or regulation, or 
suggested on the basis of legal advice this is set out in the working 
papers.

Crime and 
Disorder

None identified at this stage.

Sustainability None identified at this stage.

Health and 
Wellbeing

None identified at this stage.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

None identified at this stage.

Equality and None identified at this stage.

Page 47



Diversity

7 Appendices

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:

Appendix I: report to General Purposes Committee held on 2 March 2016 
together with supporting working papers.

8 Background Papers

None

Page 48



APPENDIX I
General Purposes Committee
Meeting Date 3 March 2016

Report Title Constitution Review

Cabinet Member Cllr Andrew Bowles , Leader

SMT Lead Mark Radford

Head of Service
Lead Officer Katherine Bescoby, Democratic and Electoral Services 

Manager

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations 1. That the Committee considers the report and the 
working papers and makes recommendations to 
Council.

(Recommendations from this Committee will be presented 
to Council on 16 March 2016.)

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 Reviewing the constitution regularly ensures it is fit for purpose and maintains 
good governance and decision making arrangements. The review of the 
constitution is an on-going task and it is timely to look at the items presented in 
this report. 

1.2 The report sets out the details of:

 A minor amendment to clarify the Council Procedure Rules in relation to 
motions submitted as amendment to the budget to ensure that business is 
conducted effectively and efficiently. 

 Suggested changes to the Officer Scheme of Delegation.
 Suggested Planning Committee Procedure Note. 

(Whilst   a review of all the procedure rules has been undertaken, it should be 
noted that regulations and the statutory Modular Constitution guidance means 
that the review has concentrated on those areas where the Council has 
discretion.)

1.3 Elsewhere on the agenda there are separate reports relating to

Page 49



APPENDIX I
 the review of the Local Engagement Forums and the Rural Forum and
 the motion that was referred from Council on 27 January to amend note (i) of Part 

3.2.1 of the Constitution in relation to the Head of Planning’s delegation to defer 
matters where the Committee is minded to make a decision that would be 
contrary to officer recommendation and contrary to policy and/or guidance.  

1.4    Any recommendations from these reports will also be presented to Council on 16 
March 2016.

2 Background

2.1 Working papers have been prepared on the proposed amendments to the Officer 
Scheme of Delegation and the Planning Committee Procedure Note. 

3 Proposals

3.1 The Committee is asked to give a view and make recommendations to the 
Council regarding the points raised in the Working Papers in the report. In 
addition the Committee is asked to agree an additional point of clarification under 
Council Procedure Rule in relation to the amendment to the budget.

3.2     The current procedure rule reads “amendments to the budget are to be made in 
writing and delivered to the Proper officer by 5pm on the Monday before the 
meeting” it is suggested that the following addition be made:

In proposing any changes to the budget any amendment must ensure 
that the proposal achieves a balanced budget

4 Alternative Options

4.1 There is discretion on the proposals set out in the Working Papers; matters where 
there is no discretion in relation to law and statutory guidance do not form part of 
this report.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 The review of the Constitution is the role of this Committee. All members do 
receive all council agendas and reports and can attend the Committee. All 
recommendations form this Committee have to be agreed by Council.

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan Having an up to date Constitution is important for good governance 

and decision making and is part of the Council to be proud of 

Page 50



APPENDIX I
objective.

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

None at this stage, it is anticipated that the work arising out of the 
review will be contained within existing resources.

Legal and 
Statutory

Where there is a change as a result of legislation or regulation, or 
suggested on the basis of legal advice this is set out in the working 
papers.

Crime and 
Disorder

None identified at this stage.

Sustainability None identified at this stage.

Health and 
Wellbeing

None identified at this stage.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

None identified at this stage.

Equality and 
Diversity

None identified at this stage.

7 Appendices

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:

 Working Papers – proposed changes to Officer Scheme of delegation and 
suggested Planning Committee Procedure Note.

8 Background Papers

None

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



General Purposes Committee 

2 March 2016

Working paper in respect of clarification of voting procedures within 4.1 Council 
Procedure Notes.

1. Under Part 4.1- Council Procedure Rules para 33 states that, with the exception of 
certain matters that can only be dealt with by Council, all of the Rules apply to 
Committee/Panel meetings. This includes the section on Voting which is reproduced as 
follows:

19. Voting

(1) Unless this Constitution or the law provides otherwise, any matter will 
be decided by a simple majority of those present and voting at the meeting, 
by show of hands or if no dissent, by affirmation of the meeting.

(2)  If five Members present at the meeting demand it by standing up before 
the vote is taken, a recorded vote will be taken and included in the Minutes of 
who voted for or against a proposal, and who abstained.

(3)  Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting and any member so 
requires, there shall be recorded in the Minutes of the proceedings of that 
meeting whether that person cast his vote for the question or against the 
question or whether he abstained from voting.  (This rule cannot be 
suspended). 

(4)  Voting on Appointments: Where there are more than two persons 
nominated for any position to be filled by the Council, and of the votes given 
there is not a majority in favour of one person, the name of the person having 
the least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote shall be 
taken, and continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. (Please 
see Procedure Rule 2 regarding voting on nominations for Mayor and Deputy 
Mayor).

(5)  Voting on decisions relating to the budget or Council Tax: In accordance 
with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 SI No. 165 the minutes will record how each member 
present voted on any decision relating to the budget or Council Tax. (This 
rule cannot be suspended). 

(6)  If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will 
have a second or casting vote, regardless of whether he has used his first 
vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chairman chooses to exercise a 
casting vote.

2. The requirements set out in (3) and (5) are prescribed in Regulation and cannot be 
suspended. The intention of (3) is to enable an individual to have their individual vote 
recorded.  

Page 53



3. There has been some confusion over whether a recorded vote can occur in meetings 
other than Council.  It is suggested that General Purposes Committee consider 
whether the position should be clarified. In terms of public administration and 
openness and transparency, it is recommended that this clarification be issued and 
the Constitution be amended accordingly.

4. Under the current wording at 19 (2) it would mean that five members of a 
Committee/Panel/Sub-Committee would need to call for a recorded vote. Clearly 
depending on the size of the Committee/Panel/Sub-Committee this would require a 
variable percentage of those present exercising this right.

5. To clarify the position it is suggested that the current wording at 19. (2) is replaced 
with the following.  This would bring the Council’s Constitution in line with others and 
be a proportionate approach:

(2)  If five councillors present at a Council meeting, three councillors present 
at a Committee/Panel  or two Councillors present at a Sub- Committee 
meeting demand it, the names for and against the motion or amendment or 
abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the 
minutes.

6. The Committee is asked to consider amending the voting arrangements as set out in 
Para 5 above.

Mark Radford

Director of Corporate Services and Monitoring Officer

February 2016

Page 54



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

42

PART 3.4 - SCHEME OF OFFICER DELEGATIONS
 

INTRODUCTION

This scheme has been adopted by Swale Borough Council and its Executive and is the list of 
delegations to officers under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), section 15 
of the Local Government Act 2000 and all other powers enabling delegations to officers.

The delegations which follow are subject to the responsibility of the Chief Executive to ensure the 
efficient management and execution of the Council's functions and implementation of its policies. 

The purpose of the delegations is to lead to a streamlining of the processes of the Council.
 
Any reference to any Act of Parliament shall include references to regulations, subordinate legislation 
and European Union legislation upon which either UK legislation is based, or from which powers, 
duties and functions of the Council are derived.

Reference to any enactment, regulation, order or byelaw shall include any amendment, re-enactment 
or re-making of the same.

Any post referred to below shall be deemed to include any successor post or a post which includes 
within the job description elements relevant to any particular delegation, which were also present in 
the earlier post and shall include anyone acting up or seconded.

The exercise of any delegated power is subject to: -

 the overriding requirement to ensure that the financial effect of the delegation will fall within 
an approved budget;

 the Council’s policies including the Budget and Policy framework, the Procedure Rules, 
Protocols and Codes in this Constitution;

 any statutory restrictions; and

 the right of Council, Cabinet or committee to decide on any matter in a particular case.

In streamlining, wherever possible the scheme of delegation, reference is made only where 
appropriate to the policies under which the delegation is being exercised.  There is an overriding 
requirement that all delegations are agreed with the law and the council’s policies. 

Before deciding whether to exercise the delegation the officer concerned should ensure that the 
Director and/or Heads of Service has considered whether the matters is of a controversial nature, or 
involving significant changes in policy, to require consultation upon with the relevant committee 
chairman or cabinet member and recorded or agreement reached to report to the cabinet, council and 
committee as appropriate.

Officers shall also undertake all the operational duties within the remit of their team or service and all 
necessary powers to do this are therefore deemed to be delegated to the relevant Director or Head of 
Service or Officer who has responsibility for the discharge of the function.

So far as the delegations relate to powers which arise by virtue of agency agreements they are 
subject also to any qualifications contained in the respective agreements.

Reference in these delegations to any Statute, Statutory Instrument or Regulation made thereunder 
shall be deemed to include any statutory re-enactment or modification thereof and any Order or 
Regulation made thereunder.

Page 55



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 43

Except where specific provision is made by legislation or by resolution of the Council, the Heads of 
Service are appointed to be the proper officers in respect of any legislation falling within the scope of 
their respective services.

All Directors and Heads of Service shall designate an appropriate responsible officer to deputise 
during his/her absence or indisposition.

The delegated powers held by an officer may be exercised by the line manager of that officer, and 
any Director or Head of Service may authorise other responsible officers (who have the relevant skills 
and knowledge) to act on their behalf, provided that there is a written record of such authorisation.  A 
central record will be kept.

Where the Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee, the Leader, Cabinet, a Cabinet, Committee or an 
individual Cabinet Member has delegated a function to an Officer, the person or body making the 
delegation may at any time resume responsibility for the function either in respect of a particular 
matter or generally, and so may exercise the function despite the delegation.

In determining the suitability of an officer to be given this authority, regard must be had to the nature 
of the authority being given, the seniority of the post, the experience of the relevant officer and all 
other relevant circumstances so as to ensure that the authority and the relevant officer are 
appropriately matched.  This authorisation must: 

 be in writing, dated and signed by the officer giving the authority;

 specifically identify the post and person authorised to carry out the functions;

 specifically identify the functions to which the authorisation relates (attach an extract from 
the scheme as the numbering may change over time); and

 identify any conditions (if any) to which the authorisation is subject..

Conflicts of Interest

Every Officer is responsible for identifying whether he/she has any conflict of interest in any matter 
which is under consideration, actual or perceived, within the authority, and notifying the authority 
(including under section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972).

Where an Officer has a conflict of interest in any matter, he/she shall not participate in that matter in 
his/her capacity as an Officer except with the prior approval of his/her line manager, the Monitoring 
Officer or the Chief Executive.

Where the Chief Executive is unable to act on a matter because of a conflict of interest, the matter 
shall be discharged by the Corporate Directors collectively, or by such Officer as they shall determine 
for this purpose.

Where a Corporate Director is unable to act on a matter because of a conflict of interest, the Chief 
Executive shall discharge the matter him/herself or allocate the matter to another Officer.

Where the Monitoring Officer is unable to act on a matter in his/her statutory capacity under section 5 
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the matter shall be discharged by the Officer 
designated by the Monitoring Officer as Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Where the Monitoring Officer is unable to act on a matter under the Standards Committee 
Regulations 2008 in relation of Member conduct, the matter shall be discharged by the person 
appointed by the Monitoring Officer for this purpose under section 82A of the Local Government Act 
2000.

Page 56



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

44

Where any other Officer is unable to act on a matter that Officer’s line manager or the Chief Executive 
may arrange for another Officer to discharge the matter.

DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

General

1. To be and carry out the duties of Head of Paid Service and to exercise authority over all other 
officers of the Council so far as is necessary for the efficient management of the Council’s functions.

All appointments, (including appointments for particular statutory purposes), discipline and dismissals 
of staff at and below Head of Service level is delegated to the Chief Executive (for Heads 
of Service appointments a joint Member officer decision-making panel will be constituted, the 
membership of which will be agreed between the Leader and Chief Exeuctive); appointment and 
dismissal of Directors and Section 151 Officer must be confirmed by the Appointsments Sub-
Committee.  
decision-making panel will be constituted, the membership of which will be agreed between the 
Leader and Chief Executive); appointment and dismissal of Directors and Section 151 Officer 
must be confirmed by the Appointments Sub-Committee.

3. To exercise the power to appoint a Designated Independent Person in respect of disciplinary 
investigations or proceedings in respect of the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer. This 
delegation is to be exercised in consultation with the Leader. 

4. To nominate a deputy who may exercise the Chief Executive’s powers in the absence or 
incapacity of the Chief Executive.

5. To exercise any of the powers delegated to any other officer, including Directors.

6. To bring forward proposals for restructuring of the Council where it may be required or thought 
to be desirable to ensure that the Council has advice on the establishment and structure needed to  
carry out efficiently the work of the Council.  This includes undertaking any statutory consultation or 
other consultation.

7. Health and Safety.
8. To liaise with national and local associations, authorities, groups, companies, organisations and 
individuals to further the policies and objectives of the Council.
9. To be responsible for undertaking negotiations and consultation with staff through their trade 
unions on all matters relating to employment.
10. To submit responses to government and other bodies, consulting on changes to legislation and 
policy, as considered appropriate, following consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member.

Emergency Measures – in exercising these delegations the Chief Executive will ensure that 
the Leader is informed in accordance with the Council’s Emergency Plan.

11. To be authorised in response to a serious emergency/disaster within the Borough, and on the 
border of the Borough, to commit staff and resources until such time as the Emergency 
Committee can meet.

12. To discharge the Council’s duties under Civil Contingencies Act 2004.

Page 57



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 45

13. Authority to take any urgent action between meetings in consultation with the Leader or Deputy 
Leader, on matters which are outside the scope of powers expressly delegated to any Director 
or Head of Service.

Crime and Disorder

14. To consult with other agencies and with the Chairman of the Crime and Disorder Partnership 
and Ward Members and to take such action as may be necessary to secure the proper 
implementation of Orders under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, or any amendment or re-
enactment thereof.

15. To authorise officers to apply for judicial approval and to undertake surveillance under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, including exceptional cases where it is likely that   

         knowledge of confidential information will be acquired or where a vulnerable or juvenile Covert  
         Human Intelligent Source is to be used.

Complaints

16. To deal transparently with issues relating to the Commission for Local Administration 
(Complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman).

17. To make maladministration payments in consultation with the Leader of the Council up to 
£2,000.

Elections

18. To be the Electoral Registration Officer.

19. To be the Returning Officer.

20. To discharge the Councils functions regarding Parliamentary, Local Government (Kent County 
Council, Borough Council and Parish/Town Council) and European Elections and Referendum.

21. To make an order under Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972 to appoint temporary 
members to Parish Councils.

Miscellaneous

22. To take preliminary steps to protect the rights and interests of the Council relating to any White 
Paper, Bill of Statutory Instrument or Order in Parliament.

23. Authority to reallocate the delegations to different Directors/Heads of Service as and when 
required.

24. To determine arrangements for civic hospitality and transport in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council.

DELEGATIONS TO EACH DIRECTOR

Page 58



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

46

1. Authority to write-off any irrecoverable debt not delegated to the Head of Finance and Head of 
Commissioning and Customer Contact in accordance with the financial regulations.

2. To donate or write-off surplus goods or equipment which are not economically viable to sell.

3. To award contracts for the winning tender in accordance with Contract Standing Orders.

4. On receipt of a detailed report from the relevant Head of Service to approve virement on the 
approved budget of a cost centre subject to the limitations outlined in the Financial regulations

5. In consultation with the relevant portfolio holder, to authorise waivers to competitive tendering 
process for the amounts not exceeding the limit set out in Contract Standing Orders.

6. In consultation with the relevant portfolio holder, to authorise the extension of contracts for amounts 
not exceeding the limit set out in Contract Standing Orders.

7. Authority to appoint staff within the approved establishment.  The Chief Executive has delegated 
authority to the Directors all appointments, discipline and dismissal of staff below Heads of Service 
within their Directorates.

8. Authority to authorise Occasional or Regular Car User Allowances in accordance with the 
Council's Conditions of Service.

9. Authority to determine requests for honoraria within their directorate in accordance with the 
Council's HR policies.

10. To issue requisitions for information under Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.

DELEGATIONS TO THE CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTOR

1. To be and carry out the duties of the Monitoring Officer in accordance with Section 5 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Local Government Act 2000 and any other 
enactments and the Council's Constitution, and to nominate a member of staff to deputise as 
Monitoring Officer.

2. To be the “proper officer” for the functions designated to the Proper Officer under the Local 
Government Act 1972; Representation of the People Act 1983; Local Elections (Parishes and 
Communities) Rules 1986; Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

3. To be the Deputy Electoral Registration Officer.

4. To authorise officers to apply for judicial approval and to undertake surveillance under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 including cases, in the absence of the Chief 
Executive, where it is likely that knowledge of confidential information will be acquired or where 
a vulnerable or juvenile Covert Human Intelligent Source is to be used.

5. To give consent to the exercise by the Police of powers to disperse groups of young persons 
under Part 5 of the Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003.

6. To deal with issues relating to the Commission for Local Administration (Complaints to the Local 
Government Ombudsman).

Page 59



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 47

7. To maintain a record of notices of disclosable pecuniary interests and disclosable non-pecuniary 
interests by any Councillor and personal and prejudicial and personal and non-prejudicial 
interests by any Officer and to maintain the register of Councillor's interests and declarations.

8. To report to Council on any requests to approve extended absence of Councillors from any 
meetings, and the declaration of vacancies of any seats of the Council.

9. To consider and determine applications from Parish and Town Councillors in respect of 
declarations of prejudicial interests under Section 94 of the Local Government Act 1972.

10. To record, hold and administer civic gifts.

11. To provide information to the public and Councillors about the decision making process and 
individual decisions.

12. To maintain the record of officer delegations.

13. To make any necessary updates to the constitution (as required by law) where there is no 
discretion.

14. To be the Petitions Officer.

15. Receive requests for Call for Action and to place items on the appropriate Scrutiny Committee.

16. To authorise approval of conference attendance for Members appointed to outside bodies or in 
connection with their Council responsibilities in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

To publish and maintain the Council's Constitution with authority to make minor textual changes and 
amendments to Officer Delegations to take account of changes in legislation.

Environmental Services

18. To discharge the Council’s responsibilities with regard to statutory nuisances.

19. To administer all Port Health matters and monitor and enforce all other matters of public health and   
environmental health.

20. To appoint inspectors under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974.  

21. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and any 
others referred to therein, together with any Health and Safety Regulations.

22. To implement the provisions of the Food and Environment Protection Act 1985, the Control of
          Pesticides Regulations 1986 and of the Food Safety Act 1990 and any Orders or Regulations 

made thereunder or relating to the foregoing or having effect by virtue of the European 
Communities Act 1972 and any modifications or re-enactment to the foregoing.

23. To enforce the provisions of the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949. 

24. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

25. To implement and enforce the Environment Act 1995.

Page 60



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

48

26. To enforce the provisions of the Clean Air Act 1993.

27. To enforce the provisions of the Control of Pollution Act 1974.

28. To enforce the provisions of the Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999.

29. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993.

30. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) 
Regulations 201007.

31. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961.

32. To enforce the provisions of The Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984.

NB: The Clinical Director of the Kent Health Protection Unit is appointed as the Proper Officer of 
the Council to carry out duties under the above Act, the Public Health (Prevention of 
Tuberculosis) Regulations 1925, the Public Health Act 1936, the Public Health (Ships) 
Regulations 1979 and any other Regulations made under the Act, and any consultants in 
Communicable Disease Control, authorised by the Clinical Director, are similarly appointed to 
act on his behalf. 

33. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991 and Private Water 
Supplies Regulations 20091991 in relation to private water supplies.

34. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Building Act 1984.

35. To enforce the provisions of The County of Kent Act 1981.

To implement and enforce the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 and 1982.

To enforce the provisions of the Land Drainage Act 1991
To enforce the provisions of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

Part 5, Chapter 1 sections 77 – 79, Chapter 2, section 82 – 86,
Part 7, Chapter 1 sections 69 – 73,
Part 9, sections 101 – 105

38.  To enforce the provisions of the Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) (England) 
Regulations 2015

39.  To enforce the provisions of the Noise Act 1996
40.  To enforce the provisions of the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 – Chapter 1 
Sections 43 – 93
41.  To enforce the provisions of the Health Act 2006 – Part 1 Chapter 1.
42.  To enforce the provisions of the Plant Protection Product Regulations 2011.
43.  To enforce the provisions of the Plant Protection Products (Sustainable Use) Regulations 2012.

Miscellaneous

44.   To enforce provisions of the Offices, Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963.

45.    To arrange burials and cremations pursuant to Section 46 of the Public Health (Control of 
Disease) Act 1984.

Page 61



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 49

Licensing

38464.    To carry out all licensing functions in respect of:

 Street trading in licensed streets (the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982);

 Premises, club premises, personal licences, provisional statement, Designated Premises 
Supervisor, Temporary Event Notices in accordance with the Council's Licensing Policy 
and the Licensing Act 2003;

 Premises, provisional statement, Temporary Use Notices, Game Machine Permits, 
Lotteries, Prize Gaming Permits, acting as the Responsible Authority and instituting 
proceedings for non-compliance in accordance with the Council's Gambling Policy and the 
Gambling Act 2005;

 Street collections (section 5 of the Police, Factories etc. (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1916 (as amended);

 House to House collections (Section 2 of the House to House Collections Act 1939 (as 
amended); and

 Sex establishments (Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982.

 To act as the “responsible authority” within the meaning of the Licensing Act 2003 and 
Gambling Act 2005.

 To maintain a register of persons carrying out business as a scrap metal dealer pursuant to 
the provisions of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964 and 2013.

Audit 

Please note delegations 47 to 48  will be assigned to the Head of Audit

47. The provision of an adequate and effective system of internal audit of the Council's accounting 
records and its system of internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to internal 
control as prescribed by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

48.   The maintenance of the Council's Strategic Risk Register and the provision of advice and guidance on 
the principles and practices of Risk Management.

Human Resources

Please note delegations 49 to 63 will be assigned to the Head of Human Resources

General

49. To operate the Severance Policy with any redundancies or business cases for enhancements 
being approved by the appropriate Director or Chief Executive, and signed off by the appropriate 
Cabinet Member.

50. Enter into agreements with trade unions where implementation does not increase expenditure.

51. Enter into agreements with staff for the purpose of regulating work time.

52. Assimilate staff on appointment, promotion or re-grading.

Page 62



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

50

53. Grant removal expenses and lodging allowances in accordance with any scheme approved by 
the Council.

54. Determination of requests for provision of temporary accommodation for employees.

55. To make changes in accordance with legal requirements and best practice to HR policies and 
procedures following informal consultation with staff and the agreement of the Cabinet Member 
for Finance.

56. Administer the Council's Pension Discretionary Policy.

Training - these delegations to be exercised in accordance with HR and Learning and 
Development policies.

57. Grant financial assistance for post entry training.

58. Determination of proposals to attend corporate and service training courses.

59. Determination of proposals for the retention of fees for trainers.

Payroll

60.   To implement all negotiated salary or wage awards where no exercise of a discretion is involved.

61.   Administer staff benefits and expenses and review rates annually.

62. To pay salaries, wages, pensions and insurance contributions without reference to Members in 
        accordance with the agreed arrangements.

63.    To make payments in respect of Members' allowances and expenses under Sections 173 to 
178 of the Local Government Act 1972, and to keep a register of such payments.

Miscellaneous

45.  To enforce provisions of the Offices, Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963.

46. To arrange burials and cremations pursuant to Section 46 of the Public Health (Control of 
Disease) Act 1984.

DELEGATIONS TO HEADS OF SERVICE

1. Authority to approve staffing structures within existing budgets.  The Directors have delegated 
authority to Heads of Service for all appointments, discipline and dismissal of staff within their 
teams.  

2. Authorisation to approve the payment of overtime to members of staff in accordance with the 
Council's Conditions of Service or the appropriate negotiated conditions within their department.

3. To sign any document needed to implement a decision by, or in the name of, the Council that is 
within the scope of the powers delegated to.

Page 63



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 51

4. Authority to authorise staff to enter land or premises.

5. To serve statutory notices and arrange for works in default.

6. Authority to spend in accordance with the financial regulations.  This includes authority to 
award contracts that are within the approved budget for the current financial year, having gone 
through the tendering procedures as set out in contract standing orders. (Relevant Cabinet 
Members to be kept informed of any waivers granted).

7. Authority to implement new and existing legislation.

8. To respond to consultations on behalf of the Council in consultation with the relevant Cabinet  
Member where appropriate.

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF LEGAL 

These delegations are subject to the Law Society practice procedures and 
requirements of the Solicitors Regulation Authority

General

1. Authority to sign, or, where necessary, seal, any document needed to implement a decision 
taken by, or in the name of, the Council, and to authorise other officers to do so and to keep a 
record.

2. To act as Solicitor to the Council and carry out all related work on behalf of the Council.

3. To institute, conduct, prosecute and defend any legal proceedings on behalf of the Council 
including cases where the Council considers it expedient for the protection or the promotion of 
the interests of the inhabitants of the Council's area.

4. On instruction from client departments to settle, if appropriate, and in the interests of the Council 
any actual or threatened legal proceedings and in consultation where necessary with the 
relevant statutory officers.

5. To ensure with regard to 3 and 4 above that the early involvement of the Council's External 
Auditor be sought where appropriate in cases of an unusual and significant nature and that an 
information report be presented thereafter at the earliest opportunity to the Executive.  

6. To instruct Counsel and professional advisors as appropriate and in accordance with the agreed 
procedures of the Mid Kent Legal Services Partnership. 

7. To give legal undertakings and indemnities on behalf of the Council and to keep a register.

8. Under Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1972 to authorise Officers who are not 
admitted solicitors to appear in Magistrates' Courts on behalf of the Council.

9. Determine procedural arrangements for the issue of all consents, refusals, decisions and 
notices on behalf of the Council.

10. To accept on behalf of the Council the service of notices, orders and legal procedures. 

Page 64



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

52

To publish and maintain the Council's Constitution with authority to make minor textual changes 
and amendments to Officer Delegations to take account of changes in legislation.

11. To agree changes to membership of Committees throughout the year in consultation with the 
appropriate Group Leader.

Land and Property

12. To dispose of any land or any interest in land in accordance with the law, following Member 
approval.

13. To acquire properties which the Council is under a legal obligation to acquire under planning 
legislation, following Member approval.

14. To complete all property transactions and contractual arrangements.

15. To make and carry out the statutory notifications and advertisement procedure in relation to 
Footpath Orders, in accordance with S257 of the Town and Country Planning Act, and where 
there are no objections, or any objections made are withdrawn, to confirm the Order.

Miscellaneous

16. To administer the Members Allowance Scheme.

17. To be Data Protection and Freedom of Information Officer and to maintain the Records 
Retention Scheme and Publication Scheme in respect of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

18. To maintain a central record of RIPA applications and authorisations in line with RIPA Orders 
and Codes of Practice.

19. Implement provisions of Environmental Information Regulations 1995.

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES

Please note, these will be included under the Director of Corporate Services delegations and 
he will assign them to the Head of Human Resources

General

To operate the Severance Policy with any redundancies or business cases for enhancements being 
approved by the appropriate Director or Chief Executive, and signed off by the appropriate Cabinet 
Member.

Enter into agreements with trade unions where implementation does not increase expenditure.

Enter into agreements with staff for the purpose of regulating work time.

Assimilate staff on appointment, promotion or re-grading.

Grant removal expenses and lodging allowances in accordance with any scheme approved by 
the Council.

Page 65



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 53

Determination of requests for provision of temporary accommodation for employees.

To make changes in accordance with legal requirements and best practice to HR policies and 
procedures following informal consultation with staff and the agreement of the Cabinet Member 
for Finance.

Administer the Council's Pension Discretionary Policy.

Training - these delegations to be exercised in accordance with HR and Learning and 
Development policies.

Grant financial assistance for post entry training.

Determination of proposals to attend corporate and service training courses.

Determination of proposals for the retention of fees for trainers.

Payroll

12.   To implement all negotiated salary or wage awards where no exercise of a discretion is involved.

13.   Administer staff benefits and expenses and review rates annually.

14. To pay salaries, wages, pensions and insurance contributions without reference to Members in 
        accordance with the agreed arrangements.

15.    To make payments in respect of Members' allowances and expenses under Sections 173 to 
178 of the Local Government Act 1972, and to keep a register of such payments.

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF FINANCE

1. To be the Chief Finance Officer and be responsible for the administration of the financial affairs 
of the Council under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended); to exercise 
the duties of the Chief Finance Officer under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988; and to discharge functions under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011

2. To deal with matters specified by Financial Regulations.

3. Negotiate with the external auditor on the level and type of audit resources required to carry out 
the statutory and management audit requirements of the Council.

4. To write-off any irrecoverable debt in accordance with the Financial regulations, and the 
information to be kept in a register.

5. To estimate any collection fund surplus or deficit and to subsequently notify the major 
precepting authority.

6. To make loans to officers for car purchase and to keep a register of these loans. 

7. To enter into leasing agreements to lease assets for use by the Council as approved by the 
Capital Programme or Executive.

Page 66



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

54

8. To arrange and review insurance in accordance with the Council’s Policy.

9. To raise loans and make investments as and when required.

10. To  manage the Council’s treasury management activities in accordance with the CIPFA Code 
of Practice for Treasury management and CLG Guidelines 

11. Authorise financial leases in accordance with approved capital financing arrangements.

12. Make arrangements for the collection of income due to the Council.

13. Sign all necessary claim forms in respect of any grants or other funds payable to the Council.

14. To set the Council Tax and Business Rate  Base.

15. To publish in a local newspaper, within 21 days, notice of the amount of Council Tax set by the 
authority in accordance with Section 38 Local Government Finance Act 1992.

16. Exercise responsibility for the accounting arrangements for the operation of the collection fund 
in connection with the administration of Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rate.

17. Authorise Statutory Returns in connection with Council Tax and Council Tax Benefit, Non-
Domestic Rate and Discretionary Housing Payments.

18. Authorise Statutory subsidy calculations and returns in connection with the administration of 
Housing Benefit.

19. Determine and declare local average interest rates in accordance with legislation and the 
interest rate for loans to housing associations.

20. Issue, renew or repay temporary loans.

21. Administer matters in respect of mortgages granted by the Council.

22. Authorise the premature repayment of mortgages issued by the Council.

23. Provide financial services either on an agency basis or where required by statute.

24. Authorise persons to act for the Council at company and creditor meetings.

25. Where appropriate to elect for VAT status on particular land or property.

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF AUDIT

Please note, these will be included under the Director of Corporate Services delegations and 
he will assign them to the Head of Audit

The provision of an adequate and effective system of internal audit of the Council's accounting 
records and its system of internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to 
internal control as prescribed by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 200315 (amended 2006).

The maintenance of the Council's Strategic Risk Register and the provision of advice and 
guidance on the principles and practices of Risk Management.

Page 67



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 55

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF COMMISSIONING AND CUSTOMER 
SERVICES

Waste Collection and Disposal

1. To exercise powers in relation to refuse collection, street cleaning, public conveniences,  recycling 
and minor works.

2. To levy charges regarding the collection and disposal of waste other than household waste, and for 
the provision of bins and sacks.

3. To implement and enforce the provisions of Part II and Schedule 4 of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990.

4. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Public Health Act 1961 regarding the 
accumulations of rubbish.

Seafront and Harbour

5. To manage and maintain seafront facilities. 

6. To grant and to renew licences for pleasure boats and for pleasure boatmen pursuant to the Public 
Health Acts Amendment Act 1907 (as amended by the Local Government Act 1974) and to 
dispose of boats and ancillary equipment abandoned or uncollected on any port or foreshore in 
Council’s ownership.

Recreation

7. To manage, maintain and control parks, open spaces, country parks, equipped play areas, outdoor 
and indoor sports facilities and swimming pools.

8. To let parks and open spaces for sporting and recreation facilities including fairs, exhibitions and 
displays.

9. To make arrangements for the provision and advertising of leisure and recreation services and 
events.

10. To deal with petitions in relation to ball games on open spaces in consultation with Ward Members. 

Cemeteries and Churchyards

11. To manage and maintain Council owned cemeteries and to maintain “closed churchyards”.

12. To exercise powers in relation to the granting of rights of burial, rights to erect memorials and 
maintenance of graves pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, Public Health Act 1936 and 
Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977.

Parking and Highways Management

13. To manage, maintain and control off-street parking and to make necessary amendments to the Off 
Street Parking Order.

Page 68



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

56

14. To manage on-street parking enforcement in accordance with The Road Traffic (Permitted Parking 
and Special Parking Area) (County of Kent) (Borough of Swale) Order 1999.

15. To agree to the use of car parks for non-commercial use and to temporarily suspend on and off 
street parking bays.

16. To enforce the provisions of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and Refuse Disposal (Amenity) 
Act 1978 regarding the removal of vehicles and any other offence.

17. To enforce the provisions of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 in relation to 
fixed penalty notices for nuisance parking offences.

18. To exercise the Council’s powers to provide and maintain footway lighting systems and street 
naming and numbering.

19. To exercise the power to provide and maintain bus shelters and to give consent to Parish Councils 
for the erection of seats and shelters.

20. Authority in conjunction with the Head of Legal to make Orders for the closure of highways for a 
period of 24 hours or less for special purposes under Section 21 of the Town Police Clauses Act 
1847.

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles

21.   To undertake all functions regarding Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles in accordance 
with the relevant provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

Allotments

22.    To administer allotments and the discharge of related statutory functions.

Contract Standing Orders

23. To agree waivers in accordance with Contract Standing Orders.

Miscellaneous

224.    In conjunction with the Head of Legal, to serve Notices under section 23 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 in relation to dangerous trees.

253.    To implement and enforce the provisions of the Land Drainage Act 1991.

24.    To administer concessionary bus travel permits for the elderly and disabled.

265.    To undertake responsibility for the effects of oil pollution on the coast line.

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF ECONOMY AND COMMUNITIES

Corporate Strategy and Communications

1. To produce and publish publicity and information material.

2. To manage and coordinate press and media relations.

Page 69



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 57

3. To issue press statements and where appropriate, following discussion with the relevant 
portfolio holder.

4. To co-ordinate consultation on behalf of the Council.   In respect of this proposed amendment, 
the Head of Corporate Strategy and Communications has concerns regarding the removal of 
the word ‘corporate’ as this implies that this covers all consultation which is not the case.

Community Services

1. To enable community development services across the Borough.

2. To provide management and administration of local grant schemes and payments in 
accordance with the agreed policy framework.  

3. To manage Community Halls and asset transfer projects. 

4. To manage the CCTV partnership agreement and take decisions on service provision

5. To deliver services in accordance with statutory and legislative requirements including Section 
17 of the Crime and Disorder Act.

6. To manage the Community Safety Unit.

To manage SBC's involvement in youth services including Swale Youth Forum and Local 
Children Trust Board.

Cultural Services

7. To work in partnership to enable the delivery of arts, heritage and cultural activities in Swale .

8. To manage the preservation and development of cultural and heritage infrastructure.

9. To enable the delivery for sports and physical activities across the Borough.

Economic Development and Regeneration

10. To implement key regeneration projects across the Borough.

11. To enable synergy between the Council, learning providers and local business. 

12. To enable the delivery of tourism projects across the Borough.

13. To manage green infrastructure projects and promote biodiversity. 

Environmental Services

14. To discharge the Council’s responsibilities with regard to statutory nuisances.

15. To enforce the provisions of the following Acts in relation to the welfare of animals:

 Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925;

Page 70



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

58

 Pet Animals Act 1951;

 Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963;

 Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and 1991; 

 Riding Establishments Act 1964 and 1970;

 Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976;

 Zoo Licensing Act 1981;

 Animal Welfare Act 2006;

 Dogs Act 1871, 1906 and Dangerous Dogs Act 1991; and

 Dog Control Orders (Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act) 2005.

 Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999

16. To enforce the provisions of the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949. 

17. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

18. To implement and enforce the Environment Act 1995.

19. To enforce the provisions of the Clean Air Act 1993.

20. To enforce the provisions of the Control of Pollution Act 1974.

21. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993.

22. To implement and enforce the provisions of Part 6 of the Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003.

23. To enforce the provisions of the Noise Act 1996.

24. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Criminal Damage Act 1971, the Antisocial
Behaviour Act 2003, Part IV of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 in relation to graffiti, littering and fly posting.

25. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Clean Neighbourhood Act 2005.

26. To enforce the provisions of the Control of Pollution Amendment Act 1989 and the Environmental
Protection (Duty of Care) Regulations 1991 regarding transport of waste.

27. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales)
          Regulations 2007.

28. To implement and enforce the provisions of Part II and Schedule 4 of the Environmental Protection
          Act 1990.

29. To enforce the provisions of the Health Act 2006 relating to smoke-free offences.

30. To enforce the provisions of The County of Kent Act 1981.

31. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1976 and 1982.

32. To administer the Waste to land (Use in Agriculture) Regulations 1989.

Page 71



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 59

33. To enforce the provisions of S3-6 of the Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1978, Part VIII of the Road 
Traffic Regulations Act 1984 and The Removal and Disposal of Vehicles (England) (Amended) 
Regulations 2002.

34. To implement and enforce the provisions of S235-238 of Part XI of the Local Government Act 1972 
in relation to the enforcement of Byelaws.

35. To implement and enforce the provisions of Parts 1, 2, 4, 6, 7 and Part 11 S154 only of the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Gypsy Sites and Unlawful Encampments

376.   To monitor the number of gypsies/land travellers, legally and illegally encamped within the 
Borough
         and to maintain a continuing dialogue with the Kent County Council over gypsy site provision.

387.    To issue Notices in relation to the removal of gypsies on the highway under the Highways Act 
1980
          and from Council owned land under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994.

Miscellaneous

39.   To maintain a list of senior nominated officers regarding establishment arrangements for the 
protection and safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults.

3840    To enter into agreements and contracts  for the supply of goods and services in 
connection with the service 

3941.   To enable the delivery of markets on Council owned sites by working with market 
cooperatives in Faversham, Sheerness and Sittingbourne.

402.   To enforce the provisions of the Sunday Trading Act 1994 and to enforce any breaches of 
street trading under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

413.    To exercise the Council’s power to secure unoccupied buildings under the provisions of the  
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

424.   To authorise officers to apply for judicial approval and to undertake surveillance under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, excluding cases where it is likely that knowledge 
of confidential information will be acquired or where a vulnerable or juvenile Covert Human 
Intelligent Source is to be used.

43. To implement the provisions of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015
44. To implement the provisions of the Modern Slavery Act 2015
45. To implement the provisions of the Childrens Act  2004

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF HOUSING

Housing

Page 72



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

60

1. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Housing Act 1985 (as amended) and the Housing 
Act 2004 in relation to demolition orders, housing conditions, licensing of houses in multiple 
occupation and additional control provisions in relation to residential accommodation including 
overcrowding.

2. Power to approve disabled facilities grants in accordance with statutory criteria and authority to 
allow applicants to start work before grants are approved pursuant to Part I of the Housing Grants 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (as amended).

3. To implement the provisions of Article 3 of the Regulatory Reform Act (Housing Assistance) 
(England and Wales) Order 2002 with power to provide housing assistance in accordance with the 
Council's published policy and grant/loan conditions, and power in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Housing to recover the grant in total or in part where a house is sold within five years.

4. To implement the provisions of Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).

5. To enter into agreements for the supply of goods and services in connection with grant and 
financial assistance schemes.

6. To promote group repair and renewal schemes.

7. To adopt the power given in the Localism Act 2011 to discharge Homelessness Duty into the 
Private Rented Sector.

Homelessness

8. To implement the provisions of Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) in relation to 
processing and determining all homeless applications. 

Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates

9. To exercise all of the Council’s powers and duties to bill, administer and collect the Council Tax 
and Non-Domestic Rates .

10. Pursuant to Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, to issue enforcement proceedings 
including making complaints on behalf of the Swale Borough Council in the Magistrates Court 
under the following Regulations: -

 The Community Charges (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1989;

 The Community Charges (Administration and Enforcement) (Amendment) Regulations 
1989;

 Community Charges (Co-Owners) Regulations 1990 (as amended);

 Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and Enforcement) (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Regulations 1990 (as amended);

 Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and Enforcement) (Local Lists) Regulations 1989 (as 
amended);

 any other further regulations issued by the Secretary of State for the Environment under 
the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (Schedule 9);

 The Council Tax (Administration & Enforcement) Regulations 1992 (as amended); and

 any further regulations issued by the Secretary of State for the Environment under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (Schedule 4).

Page 73



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 61

11. To write off any irrecoverable debt in respect of Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates and Housing 
Benefit Overpayments in accordance with the Financial regulations and the information to be kept 
in a register.

12. To appear on behalf of the Council at a Valuation Tribunal.

13. To consider applications for non-domestic rate relief from charitable and other organisations 
pursuant to Sections 43 and 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

14. To consider applications for the reduction and remission of rates pursuant to section 49 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988.

15. To write-off any irrecoverable debt in the case of council tax, business rates or housing benefit 
overpayments in accordance with the Financial Regulations, and the information to be kept in a 
register.

Housing and Council Tax Benefit

16. To exercise all of the Council’s powers and responsibilities for Housing and Council Tax Benefits, 
including the payment of benefits and the determination of discretionary payments.

17. To administer rent rebates for Local Authority tenants and rent allowances for Private/Housing 
pursuant to Section 134 of the Social Security Administration Act 1992 (as amended).

Caravans

18. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 
1960.

Public Health

19. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Public Health Act 1936 and 1961. 

20. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991 in relation to private water 
supplies.

Buildings

21. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Building Act 1984.

22. To enforce the provisions of Part XI of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

23. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Water Act 1989. 

Drainage

24. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Land Drainage Act 1991.

25. To enforce the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

Pests

26. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949.

Page 74



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

62

Miscellaneous

27. To implement and enforce the provisions of Part III of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

28. To enforce the provisions of The County of Kent Act 1981.

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF PLANNING

Development Control 

1. To determine applications, to agree minor variations to planning obligations, to respond to 
prior notifications and to make observations on behalf of the Borough Council in accordance 
with the provisions of the appropriate Development Plan or other adopted Borough Council 
Planning Policy Guidance.

2. The delegated powers in paragraph 1 above shall not be exercised in the following 
circumstances: 

(a) applications where the decision of the Head of Planning would conflict with any written 
representation received within the specified representation period from: 
(i) any Member of the Borough Council; 
(ii) a statutory consultee; or 
(iii) a Parish or Town Council; 
provided that any such  representations from (ii) or (iii) above  are, in the opinion of the 
Head of Planning based upon relevant planning considerations. . 

(b)   applications where the decision of the Head of Planning would conflict with letters of 
representations, or  petitions, from at least three separate addresses received within the 
specified representation period from persons or bodies (other than those set out in (a) 
above) provided thatany such representations are, in the opinion of the Head of Planning, 
based upon relevant planning considerations and a relevant Ward Member requests that 
the application should be reported to the Planning Committee  
(see 2 (i) above)(c) applications submitted by Members of the Council and Members of 
Staff; and 

(c) applications which the Head of Planning considers are sufficiently major or raise difficult 
questions of policy interpretation or any unusual or difficult issues which warrant Member 
determination. 

Trees, Hedgerows and High Hedges 

3. To respond to notifications under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 of intention to cut 
down, uproot, top or lop a tree within a Conservation Area or for trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Orders. 

4. To determine Felling Licence applications. 

5. To make and confirm, where there are no objections, Tree Preservation Orders. 

6. Refusals of permission to cut down trees and approvals to lopping, silvacultural thinning of 
woodlands and routine cutting of coppice woodland not affecting draw trees. 

7. Authority under Regulation 12 of the Hedgerows Regulations 1997 (as amended) and 
Section 214B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to enter onto land. 

8. To respond to hedgerow notifications in consultation with the appropriate Ward Member(s).

Page 75



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 63

9. Subject to consultation with the Head of Legal, to serve notices relating to dangerous trees, 
in accordance with Section 23 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

10. To consider and determine the Council's response to the formal complaints in relation to high 
hedges, to issue remedial notices and determine all other matters in relation to high hedges 
in accordance with Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003.

Enforcement

11. To serve Enforcement Notices and/or to issue “breach of condition notices” to secure 
compliance with planning conditions.

12. To serve Notices under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requiring the proper  
maintenance of land and the removal or obliteration of any placard or poster.

13. To make representations on behalf of the Council where appropriate to the granting or 
variation of Goods Vehicle Operators Licences under Section 12 of the Goods Vehicles 
(Licensing of Operators) Act 1995.

14. In cases of  urgency between meetings to  serve a “Stop Notice”, a "Temporary Stop Notice"  
an Enforcement Notices or a Listed Building Enforcement Notice (following consultation with 
the Chairman or the Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee and  a relevant Ward 
Member).

15. To serve a requisition for information under Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

Conservation of Historic Environment

16. In cases of extreme urgency between meetings to  to serve a  Building preservation Notice 
under Section 3  of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

17. To serve Urgent Works Notices and carry out works where it is considered urgently 
necessary for the preservation of a listed building.

18. To input to consultations by Church Authorities under the Ecclesiastical Exemption 
Regulations.

Miscellaneous

19. To exercise powers of entry in accordance with Sections 196A and 324 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and Section 88 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended).

20. To screen and scope Environmental Impact Assessments, in accordance with The Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 
1999 (as amended).

21. To determine applications for Certificates of Lawful Use or Development.

22. To carry out consultations under the procedure set out for minor developments by 
Government departments.

23. To accept non-material amendments to approve schemes including minor amendments to 
conditions and planning obligations

Page 76



Swale Borough Council Constitution
July 2015
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations

64

24. To approve details reserved in conditional permissions (facing materials, landscaping, joinery 
details etc.)

25. To determine whether an applications should not be considered in outline.

26. To serve notices requiring information regarding disposal of waste pursuant to Section 93 of the 
Control of Pollution Act 1974.  

27. To act as “responsible authority” within the meaning of the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling 
Act 2005.

28. To implement the provisions of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004.

29. To authorise officers to apply for judicial approval and to undertake surveillance under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, excluding cases where it is likely that  confidential 
information will be acquired.

30. To be responsible for the Council’s Building Control function by way of representation at the 
Joint Committee of the South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership.

31. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003 in relation to high 
hedges and miscellaneous powers.

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF PROPERTY 
General

1. To enter into all 'de-minimis' Agreements, eg. minor wayleaves, easements, rights of way, 
temporary occupation of land, tenants-at-will etc.

2. To negotiate and agree terms for the modification, variation or release of convenants contained 
in conveyances and transfers in accordance with any relevant provisions contained within the 
Asset Management Strategy, the Asset Transfer Policy and Disposals Policy.

3. To deal with Blight Notices ensuring final compensation where the notices have been accepted 
by the Council for conveyancing purposes.

4. To approve disturbance payments, etc. other than payments in respect of well maintained 
houses.

5. To finalise negotiations in the case of confirmed Compulsory Purchase Orders.

6. To deal with applications for the sale of sub-station sites.

7. To deal with applications for the sale and purchase of land where the proposed consideration 
does not exceed £10,000 or where the land is to be sold or purchased on behalf of the Kent 
County Council.

8. To assign leases, subject to the normal investigation of the financial abilities of the new leases 
and to those cases also requiring a change of the approved use being determined, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance.

Page 77



Swale Borough Council Constitution
April 2015 
Part 3.4 Officer Delegations 65

9. To terminate or accept the surrender of a leasehold interest in land where it is of benefit to the 
Council.

10. To approve rent reviews and lease renewals up to a maximum increase of £7000 or 20% per 
annum whichever is the greater amount.

11. To enter into leases for less than seven years or to enter into leases where the annual rent is 
less than £3000.

12. To retain agents to advise upon terms for sales, leases, purchases, easements, compensation 
claims and similar matters or otherwise in connection therewith.

13. To negotiate the terms of, and authorise the granting of, landlords licences and consents and 
variations under existing leases.

14. To carry out any site investigation where he/she considers it necessary whether upon the 
commencement of negotiations or acquisition or otherwise.

15. To apply for planning permission for the development of any land or property and to make any 
other application under planning legislation.

Page 78



Planning Committee Procedure Notes

1. The Chairman will introduce himself and explain that this is a Planning 
Committee meeting to be conducted in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution (including the Procedure Rules) which is available on the Council’s 
Website.  

The Chairman will explain the role of, and introduce, any visiting Members. Any 
Member who is not a Member of the Planning Committee may attend as a 
Visiting Member and may speak, provided s/he gives prior notification to the 
Chairman. Such visiting Members may include Ward Members. The Chairman 
will explain that these visiting Members can speak on an application but cannot 
vote.

2. The Chairman will also explain that following a decision by members, delegated 
authority is given to the planning officer to issue the decision notice, planning 
permission is not granted until the issue of the decision notice.  All the 
application documents are published on the internet and the decision notice will 
be available there in due course.  

3. The meeting will follow the order set out in the Agenda unless otherwise stated

4. Any Substitute Members will be introduced by name and it will be explained that 
when acting as a substitute on the Planning Committee the substitute Member 
must also have undertaken appropriate training.

6. The Chairman will explain that the Committee will deal with any matters where a 
member of the public has registered to speak before moving on to the 
remainder of the agenda.

7. The Chairman will introduce each item giving the agenda item number, the 
planning application number and the location then hand over to the planning 
officer. 

8. If the Chairman has not given the agenda item number, the planning application 
number and the location then the Planning Officer will do so. The application will 
be summarised by the Planning Officer and any update on the application will be 
given.

9. Those members of the public who have registered to speak will have the 
opportunity to speak in accordance with the public participation rules.  If the 
matter is deferred to a site meeting of the Planning Working Group the Chairman 
will clarify that they can speak now and that there will also be a further 
opportunity to speak at the site meeting.  He will make it clear that there will be 
no opportunity to speak on the matter when it comes back to the Committee for 
final determination.

If a Member wishes to speak on an item, s/he may only speak once on an item.

10. The Chairman will then move the officer recommendation, a seconder will be 
found and the debate will open.

Page 79



11. The meeting has a quasi-judicial role and determines the rights and obligations 
of the applicant.   Members are reminded that they should not vote according to 
party lines but must consider the application and everything that is said in the 
meeting concerning the application. They should then make a decision based 
solely on the information available to them and to exercise their planning 
judgement accordingly.

11.1        Members who have disclosed a pecuniary interest in an item must leave 
the room while that item is considered.
11.2        Members who have disclosed a non-pecuniary interest in an item may 
remain in the room and may speak and vote. 
11.3         Unless they have a disclosable pecuniary interest in the item being 
discussed, Members are advised to remain in the meeting for the whole time 
that an item is being debated and are should not vote on the matter unless they 
have done so.
11.4         Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, having 
considered the facts would conclude that there was a real possibility that the 
member might be predetermined or biased the member should declare their 
predetermination or bias and then leave the room while that item is considered.

12. When a vote is taken the Democratic Services Officer will make a note of the 
number of votes for and against and the number of abstentions.  If this is unclear 
the meeting will wait until the Democratic Services Officer is satisfied that the 
vote is clear.

13. 1. If the vote follows the officer recommendation to approve for the reasons 
given in the report then planning permission will be granted subject to the 
issue of the decision notice.

2. If the vote follows the officer recommendation to refuse for the reasons 
given in the report then planning permission will be refused subject to the 
issue of the decision notice.

3. If the vote does not follow the officer recommendation to approve then:
(a) the Chairman will invite the Head of Planning to consider if the 

application should be deferred in accordance with Part 3 of the 
Constitution. If the application is deferred to that next meeting, the Head 
of Planning will advise Members of the prospects of such a decision being 
challenged on appeal and on the implications of a cost application being 
made against the Council.

(b) If the decision is not deferred to the next meeting, a further motion must 
be made to refuse the application. A detailed minute of the Planning 
Committee’s reasons (which should be full, clear and convincing) should 
be made by the Democratic Services Officer and a copy placed on the 
application file. The courts have expressed the view that such reasons 
should be clear and convincing.  The Chairman should also give the 
planning officer the opportunity to explain the implications of any 
decision contrary to his/her recommendation. 

(c) The wording of the reasons for refusal should be clearly understood 
before the Planning Committee votes on a motion to refuse an 
application. It is preferable for the Chairman to propose a short 

Page 80



adjournment of the application to allow officers to draft the framework 
wording rather than leaving the reasons to the offices to draft following 
the meeting and to provide delegated authority to the Head of Planning 
to make any necessary detailed wording changes.

If the vote is passed then planning permission will be refused subject to the 
issue of the decision notice.

4. If the vote does not follow the officer recommendation to refuse for the 
reasons given in the report then:
(a) the Chairman will invite the Head of Planning to consider if the 

application should be deferred in accordance with Part 3 of the 
Constitution and if not deferred,

(b) a further motion must be made to approve the application with 
delegated authority given to the Head of Planning to impose suitable 
conditions

(c) If the vote is passed then planning permission will be approved subject to 
the issue of the decision notice.

14. The outcome of the voting will be announced by the Chairman before moving on 
to the next item. If the Chairman fails to do this then the Head of Planning will 
step in and announce the outcome.

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Recommendations for Council – 16 March 2016

General Purposes Committee – 2 March 2016

(a) Minute No. 541 Review of Local Engagement Forums and Swale Rural 
Forum (separate report on the Agenda)

Recommended:
(1) That the Local Engagement Forums and the Swale Rural Forum cease in their 
current form.
(2) That the proposals for better ways to engage with our community be noted
including for example:

 Whilst LEFs and the Rural Forum will cease, public meetings will be
organised on an ad-hoc basis when there is a significant or
contentious local issue that requires discussion so face-to-face
communication is still available;

 Introduce a ‘Your Swale’ section on the website and ‘Inside Swale’
magazine, so it is easier for residents to find out about services and
what’s on;

 Introduce direct email to residents informing of news, information; and
Continue to use social media such as Facebook and Twitter.

(b) Minute No. 542 Motion Referred from Council on 27 January 2016 (separate 
report on the Agenda)

Recommended:

(1) That the constitution not be amended following the motion submitted by
Members.

(c)  Minute No. 543 Constitution Review (separate report on the Agenda)

Recommended:

(1)  That the following be added to Procedure Rule 15:

In proposing any changes to the budget any amendment must ensure that the 
proposal achieves a balanced budget.

(2) That the revised delegations, as set out in the report, be agreed.

(3) That the Planning Committee Procedure Note be agreed, as amended at the     
meeting.

(4) That Procedure Rule 19(2) be amended to read:

Page 83

Agenda Item 14



 If five Councillors present at a Council meeting, three Councillors present at a 
Committee/Panel or two Councillors present at a Sub-Committee meeting demand 
it, the names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting 
will be taken down in writing and entered into the minutes.

Cabinet Meeting - 2 March 2016 

(a)  Minute No. 551 Strategic Business Planning 2016/17: Corporate Action 
Plan and Corporate Performance Targets

Recommended:

(1) That the Corporate Plan action plan for 2016/17 (§3.2 and Appendix I) be
adopted.
(2) That the corporate performance indicator set for 2016/17 and associated ‘hard’
targets for 2016/17 and ‘soft’ targets for the following two years (§3.8 and
Appendix II) be adopted.
(3) That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with
the Cabinet Member for Performance, to amend performance indicators and
targets during the course of the year should this become necessary (§3.9).

Page 84



1

Council Meeting Urgent Item
Meeting Date 16 March 2016

Report Title Budget Framework Variation

Cabinet Member Cllr Bowles, Leader

SMT Lead Abdool Kara, Chief Executive

Head of Service Nick Vickers, Head of Finance

Lead Officer Nick Vickers, Head of Finance

Key Decision
Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations 1. That the Council agree an in-year change to the 
current budget and policy framework to allow it to set 
up the facility to borrow up to £30m.

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 This report seeks approval to an in-year change in the budget and policy 
framework to allow for a significant amount of borrowing for capital 
expenditure purposes.

2 Background

2.1 The Council faces further very significant reductions in Central Government 
funding over the remainder of this decade.  Like many other Councils, the 
reality of maintaining any sort of reasonable level of service provision for 
residents in the face of continuing reductions in revenue Support Grant is that 
the Council must identify new income streams.  For some Councils this means 
a much more active stance in capital investment within the area to generate 
capital receipts and/or revenue streams.

2.2 The purpose of this report is, therefore, to provide the Council with the 
flexibility to undertake such investments as and when opportunities arise.  
These might include developments that the Council is party to (including, for 
example, elements of the Sittingbourne Town Centre regeneration proposals), 
or developments elsewhere in the Borough where a positive return on the 
investment is projected.  It may include investment to help kick-start a 
development, or buying a ready-made asset ‘off the shelf’ – whether new, or 
one that is already in operation.

2.3 In all such cases the Council should be able to take advantage of the fact that 
the cost of capital to the Council by borrowing from the Public Works Loan 
Board at rates around 3% are lower than the sources of capital for developers 
and investors.

Page 85

Agenda Item 15



2

2.4 Any individual investment decisions will be taken on their own merits, via 
formal Cabinet-level decision taking reports with accompanying business 
cases.  As these will be Cabinet decisions, they will be subject to scrutiny 
provisions.  Wherever possible, pre-decision scrutiny will be offered.

2.5 The relevant business cases would need to see the borrowing costs covered 
by projected income, with some degree of contingency built in.  However, 
many such projects will also generate additional business rates (where it is a 
new development), and/or Council Tax and New Homes Bonus, all of which 
will be vital for the future of the Council, as well as the beneficial economic 
multiplier effect on the area of the development (where it is new).

2.6 It is worth noting that all or most such decisions will have to be made under 
Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as they will involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information such as information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of the Council and the body(ies) that we would be 
negotiating any such contract with.

3 Proposals

3.1 That That the Council agree an in-year change to the current budget and 
policy framework to allow it to set up the facility to borrow up to £30m, whether 
as a single drawdown or in multiple drawdowns that do not collectively amount 
to more than £30m.

4 Alternative Options

4.1 This report is an enabling report, and any future decisions to draw upon this 
borrowing capacity will be taken on the merits of individual business cases 
that will be brought forward.  To not take this decision at this point in time will 
prevent the flexibility to proceed at pace should an opportunity present itself.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 Consultation will be undertaken on individual projects where there is a 
proposal to invest.

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan The option to borrow for investment fully supports the Council’s 

corporate priority of being a Council to be Proud of, and specifically 
of Objective 3.4.2 to “Assess and pursue options for generating 
revenue to reduce dependence on government-controlled funding 
streams”.

Financial, 
Resource and 

Borrowing is a variation from the budget and policy framework and 
therefore requires specific Council approval.

Page 86



3

Property

Legal and 
Statutory

The Council is legally able to borrow for capital expenditure 
purposes.

Crime and 
Disorder

Not applicable.

Sustainability Not applicable.

Health and 
Wellbeing

Not applicable.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

The detailed business cases that will be brought forward will, in 
each case, have to very carefully examine the financial risks to the 
Council of borrowing for such investment.

Equality and 
Diversity

Not applicable.

7 Appendices

7.1 None.

8. Background documents

8.1 None.

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 Questions submitted by Members
	9 Leader's Statement
	10 Strategic Business Planning 2016/17
	Appendix I - high-level action plan - Strategic Business Plan
	Appendix II - corporate PI targets Stratetic Business

	11 LEF and Rural Forum Review
	12 Motion referred from Council on 27 January 2016
	13 Constitution Review
	GPC Committee March 2016
	General Purposes Committee -additional working paper
	Part 3 4 Scheme of Officer Delegations - Draft November 2015 DP amends after GPC
	Swale Planning Committee Procedure Notes  revision following GPC

	14 Recommendations for Approval
	15 URGENT ITEM - Budget Framework Variation

